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Tuesday, December 6, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:03 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone, please be seated.  Mr. Nettleton, any preliminary matters this morning?

Preliminary Matters:

MR. NETTLETON:  Only one arising, Mr. Chairman, and it really relates to the status of the matter that Dr. Elsayed raised yesterday regarding the chronology.  What I can advise the Panel is we've taken a look at the document, and what we understand the issue to be really relates around the capital expenditure envelope that existed all the way back, in fact, to the old -- or the last application and looking at the milestone points along the way to see what's happened.  And so our focus is going to be on preparing the chronology of events that have taken place along that ride, so to speak.


When we get to November 2015, what we want to do is provide you with the cap ex budget, if you will, that existed at that point in time, and that's going to be informed by what the draft business plan was at that point.


The trouble of giving you the entire business plan as it existed then is that it's outdated, for one, it's consolidated, for another, and it's going to take a considerable amount of time to redact things that don't relate to TX, or transmission, rather.


So we think it's just far better and far easier to give that chronology in the context that I have just described, and I am hoping that that will satisfy you, sir, and what you are asking.


DR. ELSAYED:  That would be satisfactory for me.  That's fine --


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


DR. ELSAYED:  -- unless the other Panel members need any further information.


MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I think that was the crux of the matter, that I think you have put your finger on it, Mr. Nettleton, so --


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- that would be satisfactory.


MS. LEA:  Would it be okay if we gave that an undertaking number just so that it has a number when it comes in?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.


MS. LEA:  J8.1, please, chronology.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.1:  TO PROVIDE A CHRONOLOGY.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess the other practical matter related to that, Mr. Nettleton, is the timing of that and the filing of the business plan from -- the current one from Friday.  And the other element of this, as we know, we are struggling to get the schedule -- keeping on schedule.  So as far as having potential of having Mr. Vels back in to answer any questions, we would like to have that chronology and the business plan in time that we can maybe arrange that for perhaps late Thursday, early Friday, and we would like to know if we have, for instance, Wednesday afternoon, be able to make that call.  So if we could get the documents perhaps by Wednesday morning.


MR. NETTLETON:  I have some good news to report on that front.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. NETTLETON:  The business plan got filed this morning --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Perfect.


MR. NETTLETON:  -- so we can put a checkmark beside that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. NETTLETON:  As for the chronology, I know the good people at Hydro One are working on that and started immediately after yesterday, so I don't see -- and subject to discussions at the break, but I don't see the expectation that you have suggested being difficult for us to meet.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excellent, thank you very much.


MS. LEA:  I see the business plan.  Thank you for the hard copy.  Can we give that a number as well, please?


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, please.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  K8.1, Hydro One transmission business plan.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.1:  HYDRO ONE TRANSMISSION BUSINESS PLAN.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you, Ms. Lea.


And with that, Mr. Janigan, perhaps you will commence your cross.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


I have a compendium that I believe has been given to the panel and also to the company.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We will mark that now then.


MS. LEA:  K8.2, VECC compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.2:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR THE PLANNING PANEL.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PLANNING PANEL, resumed
Mr. Young,

Mr. Ng;

Mr. Penstone,

Mr. McLachlan,

Mr. Mancherjee; Previously Affirmed.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  But before I get into the compendium, I have a few matters just that arose in the context of the discussions that you have been having with my friend's panel and in particular with Ms. Lea, and it centres around the issue of the ramp-up of sustaining capital investment which, as I understand, is, according to Staff "interrog" 106 -- you don't have to turn it up -- it's 30 percent in 2016 and 32 percent in 2018 -- 20 -- sorry, 2017 and 32 percent in 2018; is that correct?


Sorry, I may have startled you with that question.  Does that ramp-up sound correct?  It's in front of you.


MR. PENSTONE:  It sounds correct.  I just want to make sure it's consistent with the interrogatory response.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. PENSTONE:  So actually -- here we go.  So, yes, the increase in 2017 is 30 percent, and the increase -- or between the two filings?  Is that your point that you are making?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, the comparison between the filings.


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  So the difference filing over filing in 2017 is 30 percent, in 2018 is 32 percent.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And Hydro One's need for this level of sustaining investment, I understand, is based on the perceived increased risk of failure.


MR. PENSTONE:  It's based on asset condition assessments and, in particular, the most substantive increase relates to the asset conditions and the need to address those conditions for our transmission lines.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, and those -- and that need as a result of that if it wasn't addressed it would likely lead to increased failure of equipment; is that correct?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And the failure, I take it, is based on your assessment of assets, but as well it's informed by your assessment of reliability risk in general?


MR. PENSTONE:  So the reliability risk assessment was done for the aggregate of all of the investments.  It's -- the reliability risk assessment does not inform individual -- the need for individual asset-specific investments.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And that reliability risk was driven in part, I assume, by the reliability risk model that you put forward?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  The reliability risk model is used as the outcome measure again to gauge the effectiveness of the overall transmission system plan.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And that's based on hazard curves developed by historical data and the asset demographics, as I understand it.


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  Those are two of the inputs.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And the model takes failure as the -- effectively the risk that you're attempting to project?  It's not outages, it's not interruptions, it's failure.


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I take it that failure is catastrophic failure within your definition, like, you have to replace the asset?  Or did I get that definition wrong?


MR. NG:  Failure in that context would be asset that would have deemed at end of life, and we are removing it from service.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So that end of life I guess could have come in a variety of different ways.  It may have simply broken down, or it may have been something that you tested and decided to replace.


MR. NG:  They are basically two main category.  It's the coming to a design end of life whereby we have tested the asset to verify that it doesn't have the ability to design -- to withstand the design load.  Or the other case is it failed catastrophically, a truck runs into it or something else happened to it.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, and opposing your view of -- based on reliability risk are a number of different metrics that have evolved showing very good performance from a reliability standard by Hydro One in the past; would you agree with me?


MR. PENSTONE:  So the metrics that we use, the SAIDI and SAIFI metrics, are those --


MR. JANIGAN:  Among others, yes, and I am going to go through some of them a little later, but the SAIDI and SAIFI, for example, which are your customer reliability index, as I understand it you believe these are lagging indicators and may not adequately reflect the risk going forward of equipment failure.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And an I wonder if I could have you look at Volume 5 of the transcript between your discussion with Ms. Lea.

And in this Ms. Lea, was going over some of the reliability metrics that seemed to be favourably disposed to Hydro One in relation to reliability.  And on page 110, she cites this recent study by the CEA of multi-circuit delivery points, and I will get to that later.  And as well, the Hydro One's total expenditure for transmission lines and its comparison to its peer group.

And it asks you why, given the performance that you have, do you feel the need to increase your spending so significantly, and you indicate it goes to reliability risk.

And on the next page, page 111, down the top of the page it has:
"So as Mr. McLachlan pointed in his recently made exhibit, equipment failures are increasing, yet reliability, to your point, doesn't seem to be affected.  Our thesis is that while reliability hasn't been affected yet, the risk that it will be affected in the future needs to be addressed through the levels of capital expenditure that we're proposing."

And then further down the page, in support of effectively the position you indicate on line 26:
"But I would like to draw your attention back to the exhibit that we just had up on the screen a minute ago for a statement, not this one, but the one that is Exhibit B1, tab 1, schedule 3, back to the charts we just showed about the unavailability of transmission lines, B 1, tab 1, schedule 3."

Now, I wonder if you could bring that up and the first is, of course, the delivery point unreliability index that Ms. Lea was referring to, which appears to show a better performance by Hydro One than the CEA composite.  Is that correct?

MR. McLACHLAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I assume that a better performance on this delivery point unreliability index must be some indication of reliability of Hydro One equipment.

MR. McLACHLAN:  You're asking is there a correlation?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. McLACHLAN:  So this metric, and it's defined further in the exhibit where the measures are explained, is a metric used by the CEA to be able to normalize ourselves, our peer groups -- our peer group and other utilities that the are smaller that are not part of our peer group.  So what this measure is, is an indication of the total interruption interrupted and unsupplied energy normalized by the system peak.

So there is a relationship to reliability; it's just not a clear relationship.

MR. JANIGAN:  I assume that unavailability of the major transmission equipment, it says here, that it's not available for use due to forced outages has something to do with whether or not the equipment had failed or not?

MR. McLACHLAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And looking at this graph -- or this figure, I guess I should say -- CEA uses a five-year rolling average in its -- in the blue line that goes across the top.

Are these figures from Hydro One based on a five-year rolling average?

MR. McLACHLAN:  No.  CEA does -- you're correct, they use a five-year rolling average.  The stacks that are the annual stacks here for Hydro One are the annual results, not a rolling five-year average.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is it possible we can get a comparison to the five-year rolling average, so that we have an apples-to-apples comparison here?

MR. McLACHLAN:  I can find out as an undertaking.  I just can't -- I am assuming that we can do that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Will you undertake to use best efforts?

MR. McLACHLAN:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  J8.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.2:  TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO CREATE A COMPARION TO THE FIVE-YEAR ROLLING AVERAGE


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I wonder if I can go to the next page, and these are the charts that cite -- I think that were cited that are in support of the concept that transmission failure was -- equipment failure is going up and reliability risk is going up with it.

And I am looking at this once again, and I take it that as well we have a five-year moving average by the CEA data and Hydro One is an individual year by year measure; am I correct on that?

MR. McLACHLAN:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is it possible as well -- and I am looking at both figure 12 and figure 13 -- that in addition to figure 11, you can undertake to use your best efforts to find me the five-year moving average, so it can be compared to that line?

MR. McLACHLAN:  So you are asking basically for the same as the figure 11?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. McLACHLAN:  Are we able to put that into one undertaking?  Or does that have to be an additional undertaking?

MS. LEA:  If it's related by subject matter, I see no problem with adding it to the previous one.

MR. McLACHLAN:  Okay.  Basically it's the same information request, the five-year rolling average for figures 11, 12 and 13, correct?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Is that acceptable, Mr. Janigan, included in the previous?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's fine, Ms. Lea.

MS. LEA:  Great.  So that's part of 8.2.

MR. JANIGAN:  I realize I don't have the five-year rolling average for Hydro One for an exact comparison, but this doesn't look too bad.  I don't understand why these two figures show the increased risk of equipment failure that have been cited here by Mr. Penstone.

MR. McLACHLAN:  What is the question that you are posing?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, I mean the CEA numbers by and large look to be above that of the -- of Hydro One's.  And if Hydro One has an overwhelming amount or percentage of old equipment or older assets, that doesn't seem to be reflected in this, in these two figures.

MR. McLACHLAN:  So I think there is a couple things to mention here, because I am not exactly sure.  Let me answer the question this way, and you can tell me if it answers your query.

When you look at figure 13, for example, yes, the CEA five-year rolling average is above the Hydro One annual stacks of transmission system unavailability of equipment. But first of all, what you are looking at here is, and what you are looking at when you look at all of the charts that are in this performance exhibit, is a -- is two things.  It's Hydro One's performance and obviously the peer group that we are part of in the CEA, which is defined within one of the interrogatory responses.  And each of those peers have their own reliability metrics and service levels, and expectations, and scorecards, and targets.

So in speaking to Hydro One's world, not the blue line, the peer group, what we see is -- and I will direct you to two things.  One is figure 13; you see that the increases -- there has been an increase over the past three years, '13, '14, '15.  We were also asked as an undertaking the last couple of days to update these with the 2016 numbers.  I don't know right now offhand which undertaking that was, but we can show it if we need to.

And then what I am going to ask is if you can just go down one page, please, in this exhibit to the top of the next page right there.  And this is, I think, an important statement and we have read this into the record before is that the lines 1, 2, 3, and 4 on this page talks about the fact that equipment performance is a leading indicator of future system reliability.

When you start to see a trend in advanced amount of failures or unavailability to the system, it is a leading indicator that reliability becomes more at risk underlying because as the failures occur, to paraphrase, sooner or later they are going to start to affect the portions that actually are impacting delivery points directly.

And so that's why I go back to the figures on 12 and 13, please, again, the one page up.  And we see an increase over the recent years in the total amount of unavailability, where we have had forced outages, and some of them are to do with -- to Mr. Ng's point, some are catastrophic, some are non-catastrophic, but they require the replacement of the equipment.

MR. JANIGAN:  And that's true of Figure 13, possibly.  It doesn't seem to be too much out of sync with the rest of the CEA sample.  But as I understand it, your major investments and your ramp-up in sustaining capital occurs for transmission lines, not for station equipment; is that true?

MR. PENSTONE:  The level of investments in station equipment is generally consistent with the pacing of past investments or the historical investments that we have been making --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. PENSTONE:  -- and you are correct, Mr. Janigan, that the increase is in sustainment capital.  It's particularly focused on transmission lines.

I'd also like to point out that the investments that we're proposing and the transmission system plan that we are proposing is forward-looking.  Right?  Although our -- there is a lot of attention paid on our past performance, we are anticipating investments that need to be made to either sustain that past performance or to modestly improve it.  Those investments are all predicated not on our past performance, but rather the condition of our assets.

So I can give you a very, very simple analogy that someone might argue that if I own a car and it's run without any issues for four years then why should I be worried about replacing the tires, because the past performance has been wonderful, but I have information about the assets that suggest to me that we need to make investments in order to sustain that performance.

So I think -- I understand your point about looking at historical performance and suggesting that it's -- we can argue about what the figures are suggesting, but I want to emphasize that the investments that we're proposing are forward-looking and based on asset condition assessments.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Penstone.  But the problem is that I didn't bring this up to justify the ramp-up of sustaining investment, you did, in the transcript by citing these charts as evidence of the fact that equipment reliability is on the rise, and in fact at the bottom of page 112 you say we have an increase -- as a result of your perusal of these charts, that as we have an increase in failures of station equipment and of line equipment, we -- the risk is increasing underlying it, because as you have more failures it is going to naturally -- to hit reliability in some regard.  And my point is that these outages don't seem to be all that alarming in relation to your peers.

But we have heard that in fact because of the age of your assets you require a substantial bump-up in sustaining investment.

MR. McLACHLAN:  Just, I will add something else here, Mr. Janigan.  I mentioned this before, is that when you look in particular, we will say for example for Figure 12, yes, the Hydro One unavailability due to forced outages, which is a stack of unavailability of the percentage of our transmission lines from a forced outage perspective, which is not a direct relationship with our SAIDI, because there are other times when circuits are forced out of service and it does not impact SAIDI.

But when you look at this graph, I think the key is -- and what pops out at your mind -- is that the CEA five-year rolling average appears to be a long ways from our stacks, indicating in a visual perspective we are much better than our peers.

Begs the question, then why don't we let things slip.  Because again, going back to the fact that each peer has their expectation of what their service levels are to their customers.  Our key service level, in relation to what we heard from our customers' needs and preferences, is we do not want to see reliability deteriorate any further and, in fact, where possible, we would like to see our reliability improve, especially in the area of frequency and in the area of duration for LDCs.

So although it shows that we perform very well compared to our peer group, the expectation that we have compared to the expectation of our peers is different.  Obviously that's based on the fact that each of us has a different transmission network and underlying challenges and weather and geography and whatnot.

So to Mr. Penstone's point, the amount of unavailability is increasing; but the other issue, which is not directly related to this graph, is that this is unavailability of the transmission lines.  The SAIDI is interruption of the transmission lines.  And for the SAIDI, the duration of interruption minutes, there is a high percentage there that is directly attributable to the lines transmission performance.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. PENSTONE:  I would also point out, I am wondering if you could bring up Exhibit B1-2-6.  If you can go to page 57.  So if you scroll down just a little bit.  And you can -- what this graph illustrates is the increasing trend due to insulator-caused line outages.  And I am not looking for anyone's agreement, but our view would be that between 2012 and 2015 the trend is fairly evident there as it relates to the performance of our transmission insulators.

The other point that I would make is that we have equipment in terms of conductors, and Mr. Ng described this at length over the course of the past few days, where we know the conductor's at end of life.  It may not necessarily have resulted in an outage, but we know it's at its end of life, and as asset managers what we would like to do is replace that conductor or that asset before it actually fails.

So again, we agree that failures of equipment is indicative of the condition of the assets, but it may not be necessarily completely indicative, particularly as it relates to conductors.

MR. JANIGAN:  Just before we leave the point of insulators and conductors, is it possible to estimate what percentage of this -- these increases in sustaining investment are due to your insulator and conductor replacement program?

MR. NG:  Mr. Janigan, if you can go to Exhibit B1-3-2, page 2.  Table 1.  You can clearly see that the line investment, second line from the bottom, it went from 66.8 throughout the past historic years to 128, then bridge year 172, then the test-year numbers.  Is that what you are looking for?

MR. JANIGAN:  No, of that ramp-up, which is like the 30 percent in 2017 and 2018 on the sustaining investment, what percentage of that is your insulator and conductor replacement?

MR. NG:  Okay, let's go to page 35 of the same exhibit, the fourth line from the bottom, insulator replacement.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. NG:  So we can see the historic numbers and we can see the proposed number going forward.  That will account for more than $100 million delta in there.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. NG:  That's the -- almost a third, or more than a third of the increase.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. NG:  The other part of the increase would come from the second line from the top, tower coating.  It was around 1.6 to 4.6, then it's going up to 42 and 52; that accounts for the other major part of it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. NG:  The third piece comes from table 15.  So that tells you the total dollars that we plan on spending on line refurbishment.  If you add this number with the delta that you can derive from table 16, that would give you the quantum of change.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. NG:  Almost the entire quantum of change is attributable to these three category: line refurbishment, the tower coating, and insulator replacement.

MR. JANIGAN:  And line refurbishment, what exactly is that?

MR. NG:  So the idea behind line refurbishment is that the most valuable asset we have on the circuit itself is the conductor.  Once we have determined that the conductor has reached end of life, line refurbishment will be the exercise where we would go there, replace the conductor a with new one and, while we are doing it, we replace all the hardware, insulator, refurbish the structure if we need to, repair the foundation if we need to, restore the circuit to as-new conditions.

Once we are done with line refurbishment, it is brought back to as-new conditions that will be good for another 70 years.

MR. JANIGAN:  And as I understand from your evidence, both conductors and insulators have been subject to manufacturing defects, is that correct?

MR. NG:  That is incorrect.  Insulator has a manufacturing defect in it.  Conductor is the natural aging deterioration that brought them to end of life.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And was any effort made to seek compensation from the manufacturer by any of the transmission companies?

MR. PENSTONE:  As Mr. Penstone pointed out, the company that makes those insulators, Canadian Ohio Brass and Canadian Porcelain, have gone out of business.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you never got any compensation from them before they did, correct?

MR. NG:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn up Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 1.  Here Mr. Vels sets out a metric called RCE, and RCE is reliability cost efficiency and its outages per billion and assets over assets per dollar spent on maintenance.  And I assume that this metric has something to do with the condition of your assets?

MR. PENSTONE:  I am sorry, Mr. Janigan, that none of us on the panel are able to sort of confirm with complete confidence the statement that you have just made.  This evidence was not prepared by this panel.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But I guess you can see, though, on page 20 -- you will agree with me the RCE index seems to be going down and that's favourable, I guess reflects favourably on Hydro One?  Would you not agree?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman --


MR. PENSTONE:  So, Mr. Janigan --


MR. JANIGAN:  If you can't deal with this evidence, that's fine, I'll move on.  Is that Mr. Nettleton's point?

MR. NETTLETON:  The telepathic abilities of Mr. Janigan are really amazing.  No, my only comment was we are into the realm of metrics.  I think it is fair to ask the panel, given their area being planning, of whether the metric or how the metric applies to their planning process; that's one thing. But I think it is only fair to have the metric placed in that context.

I don't think it's fair for Mr. Janigan to be asking general trends, because I don't want to leave the impression that that trend has something to do with the planning area.  I think we first have to establish whether the metric at all relates to planning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Mr. Janigan, do you want to pursue that?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's fine.  I take it this is an outcome measure, not a planning measure?

MR. PENSTONE:  I believe you're correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now going back to your reliability risk model -- and now if you can turn to my compendium, J8.2, on page 5, the question was asked by Board Staff with respect to the back cast of its reliability model to understand the predictive value of that model, and as I understand it, no back cast was done according to your answer on page 6 of my compendium, part (c).  Is that correct?

MR. NG:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  I guess -- why was that not done?  Ordinarily, when you come forward with a model that in fact informs the views of the company with respect to reliability, I would assume that you would want to test it, particularly given it was based on historical data and test it against whether or not it has any predictive value based on historical results.  Why wasn't that done?  You didn't do it and discard it, I hope?


MR. NG:  No, we did not do that.  The reason for that is we used the model as an outcome measure to measure the efficiency of our investment plan.  The asset need is underpinned by condition.  We did not see -- also the other fact is that it's not being used to set the capital envelope.

Based on those two reasons, we did not perform the back cast; we did not do the back casting.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But you presented the model or the reliability risk measurements to your customers. Presumably, you wanted to make sure that those -- your model was accurate before you presented those estimates, would you not?

MR. NG:  The biggest part of the model itself is the hazard function.  That a was done by Dr. White in 2014.


The hazard function is basically a measure of conditional probability of equipment failure.  There is really nothing much to back-cast and test here.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But it would -- if you did back-cast it, it would give some indication of the predictive value of the model, would it not?


MR. NG:  I think that is -- again, it would produce numbers.  Those numbers would need to be interpreted.  If we were to do that, if you look back five years, the asset would have been five years younger.  We were replacing conductor at less than .5 percent per year.  If you take a snapshot in 2010, let's say, and then another snapshot in 2015, given the fact that the weighting factor is 69 percent applied to the line asset, it is very logical and reasonable to see that your reliability risk would go up from 2010 to 2015.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Let me move on to page 12 of my compendium, and this was a response to an interrogatory from School Energy Coalition, Interrogatory 21, and you have provided a list of assets that are categorized by risk level.


Now, do these asset types represent the population of asset categories that are addressed in your sustainment budget?  And the reason I ask that, it appears that the steel structures and insulators are missing from this response.


MR. NG:  In responding to this we filled out the tables, right?  This is the table that we were asked to fill out, and we did just that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  These particular categories have been characterized by asset risk, and I take it this risk assessment was done by physical inspections?


MR. NG:  This risk assessment is an outpour from our asset analytic tools, so again, this go back to the one snapshot-in-time conversations.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. NG:  So subsequent to that, before we undertake any action to replace the asset, there will be detailed assessment done on that one piece of asset to confirm it has reached end of life.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. NG:  The way to use this number here, as I described before, it is intended as a screening factor for a fleet health assessment exercise.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But have you done that on the basis of inspection of individual asset types then extrapolating the percentage across the asset type, or have I got that wrong?


MR. NG:  See, we looked at the -- let's say, example transformers.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. NG:  The condition screening that we do is, there is always data -- measurement data, dissolved gas analysis data that comes back from the system of -- that comes back and get stored in the system of record.  The asset analytic tool will be pooling the data to produce the snapshot-in-time outlook.  That's how it is done.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Just getting back to my initial point, is it possible -- steel structures and insulators seem to be a fairly substantial part of this, of your plan.  Is it possible that you could undertake to add the steel structures and insulators to this chart?


MR. NG:  Mr. Janigan, I will refer you to the Exhibit B1-2-6.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. NG:  Page 53.  Yeah, here we go.  Let's have a look at the condition pie chart for steel structures here.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. NG:  It is more meaningful based on what we propose to do to display the result as shown on the page here.  Not require coating, require coating, and require replacement or refurbishment.  It really doesn't mean a lot when I say the structure is high risk in this context.  The whole ideal about tower coating is, coat it before it fails.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I am just trying to get back to this to establish some meaning with respect to these categories of very low risk, low risk, fair risk, high risk, very high risk.


Are you saying that these kind of categories are not very meaningful?


MR. NG:  I am referring specifically to tower coating asset type.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. NG:  If we were to classify that in high, low, very low, I do not believe that is meaningful.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, what about insulators?


MR. NG:  Insulator, it's the same thing.  The volume of insulator is, it's massive.  The best thing to do is -- just hang on.  The best thing to do is to look at the performance of the entire fleet.  If there's any particular vintage or type that is raising a higher concern, we would go in and do more assessment.  That is exactly what we did with CP and COB insulator.


MR. JANIGAN:  Isn't that really the same kind of categorization as putting it into a high risk, or fair risk, or very low risk?  I don't understand the difference.


MR. NG:  The difference is that with millions of insulator out there, trying to get us to classify that into different bucket, it would be a huge challenge, and we are not going to be able to test all insulator and put them into the bucket.


And also, when it comes to CP and COB insulator, we are not saying everything that's made by CP and COB are high risk.  It is limited to the vintage between 1965 to 1983.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Let me just try to unpack what you told me.  I thought initially you said you were going to go out and replace the insulators that were high -- I won't say high risk, but needed to be replaced, and I assume they come into the high-risk category.


MR. NG:  Correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But you cannot estimate how many of those insulators are in the high-risk category before you inspect them; is that what you are saying?


MR. NG:  We have said that the CP and COB insulator between 1965 to 1982 are the target groups of insulator we plan on replacing, and that is 28 percent of our installed base, and that's the group that we are going after.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Well, let me, before I chase around insulators any more, let me try to understand what the meaning of these different categories are, according to Hydro One.  What is the meaning of very high risk versus high risk?


MR. NG:  Can we put up Exhibit I1-33.  And please go to page 2.  That's the definition, the time to act.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if you can turn up page 22 of my compendium.  This is an exhibit we put together, and it's a table that takes the response in School Energy Coalition 21 and the 2017 and 2018 replacements that are shown in your evidence at B 1, tab 2, schedule 6, and we have tried to calculate the percentage of risky assets that you were proposing to replace in the two years of this rate plan.

What we have done is -- you have assessed the conductors and wood poles and underground cable that you are going to replace, and we made the simplifying assumption that all the remaining unassessed would likely follow the pattern in the majority of assets that had already been assessed in that category, and extrapolated the results.  Is that a good assumption?

MR. NG:  That is an assumption; good or not, I can't comment on it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But does it sound reasonable to you?

MR. NG:  I am not going to comment on that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  All right.  By this table, it appears that within the first two years of your plan, you will replace all of the very high risk assets except for protection systems, conductors and underground cables.

Why the distinction?  Why only replace a portion of high risk in some categories and all in others?

MR. NG:  So, again, Mr. Janigan, the big disconnect here is -- what this table is trying to do is trying to use the fleet-level information and tie that back to what we actually need to replace.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. NG:  That by itself is a disconnect.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And explain to me why that is.

MR. NG:  Okay.  One example would be -- look around this room here.  There are maybe 30 of us here, 25.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. NG:  The quickest way to do an assessment of health would probably be let's take the average age, and then from that we look at the demographic profile.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Now my blood pressure is going up.

MR. NG:  Yes, then we look at, okay, life expectancy.  Do we have a situation here or not?  Then the next thing is obviously we take blood pressure and we look at it, all right, this is what it is.

But when it comes down to how many of us need medical attention, that too is a basic screening factor.  It picks out the individuals that require closer examination.  Some of those will be false positive.

You could have an asset that is in more advanced age, but they are in good condition.  And you could have a younger asset that is not in good condition, that you need to deal with.

It's never good to use asset fleet-level asset information to try to decide which specific asset we need to replace.  There is always going to be a disconnect in there.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But what we have done is taken your risky and high risk estimations, and tried to plug them into the 2017 and 2018 replacements on the assumption these numbers have some meaning.  And by looking at your definition of what's high risk and what's very high risk, those are the ones you going to be replacing.

MR. NG:  But, Mr. Janigan, always remember that the condition pie chart is intended for fleet-level assessment.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. NG:  Fleet-level assessment.  You screen through it based on age as a single parameter and based on a snapshot in time of condition parameter, you are guesstimating or we are suggesting here may be the problem.

Within that percentage, there will be false negatives and false positives.  Subsequent detailed assessment would identify this is the asset that we need to replace.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, surely we don't have to go pole by pole.  But if you have got a number of your assets identified as risk and high risk, it's useful to take a look at where you are going to be with respect to those risky pieces of equipment in relation to your plan for replacement, is it not?

MR. NG:  It does.  Then again, Mr. Janigan, stuff that are in fair risk category right now will continue to age.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. NG:  That system will change.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But let's just take the poles for example.  You have -- on page 22 of this exhibit, you have 1260 high risk poles.  I assume that these poles are going to be among the 850 each year that you are going to replace, according to this chart.  Okay.

Isn't that a fair assessment?  I mean, I assume there are some that are high risk that won't be replaced, but they're -- sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt you.  But by and large, these high risk poles would likely be the ones you are going to chose to replace.

MR. NG:  Mr. Janigan, I will answer your question in a minute.  Can you just give me a minute?

MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry, I shouldn't have interrupted you.

MR. NG:  So, Mr. Janigan, all the wood poles that we are going to replace will be the ones that are deemed high risk.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. NG:  There will be inspection data to show that it's no longer reliable to be left in place.

If you look at the numbers, the 1260 and then 1700, I guess your next question is going to be what is the delta in there.  The delta in there is because we have 1260 poles that we say we confirm condition.  The delta in there is the fact that while we are going to this particular set of locations to replace the end of life poles, once we have access to location, when there is an adjacent pole that is looking bad, we will do a condition assessment.  If it is also at end of life or close to end of life, we would replace it at the same time.

MR. JANIGAN:  Even though it might be in the fair risk category?  You wouldn't replace a low risk pole, I assume?

MR. NG:  No.  What I am trying to get at is because pole gets installed at close vicinity, if I am going there to replace five poles that I have confirmed in my information is at end of life, I will look the seventh or eighth pole; are they looking good, or are they also close to end of life.  If they are, I will replace it so that I don't have to come back here and rebuild my access to the locations.

The other thing that happen is that it's a big province; 42,000 poles are a lot.  Throughout the year as the crews are out there doing other work, they will be keeping an eye out on other wood pole conditions.  If they identify, oh, this guy here has a really big woodpecker hole on it, you may want to come take a look at it. Those get identified throughout the year as high risk.  We do have to deal with that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So in that 1700 figure, there would likely be poles that fall into that category of being adjacent to high risk poles, and probably are now in the fair risk category?

MR. NG:  Within the 1700 pole that we propose to replace, they will all be high risk because they are end of life or near end of life.  There will not be any fair risk stuff that we are replacing.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So you are saying that in effect, the high risk category is underestimated?

MR. NG:  I am saying that the high risk category, based on the best information we have today, is 1260.  As we go through the province and continue to execute work, our past experience has shown that there will always be more poles that is at end of life, or getting close to end of life, that we need to deal with.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, there is no five-year transmission capital plan that you have, as I understand it.

MR. NG:  The transmission system plan is a five-year plan.  And the other point that Mr. Penstone is trying to make here is the transmission -- the business plan got filed this morning.  That is a five-year outlook.

MR. JANIGAN:  I guess what I am asking is, does that plan show what your investment levels will be in these particular assets over the next -- the three years past, the 2017 to 2018?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Lea, the business plan that was filed this morning, you mentioned you had hard copies.  Is it possible to have --


MS. LEA:  I have one hard copy here.  Are there any more hard copies available, Mr. Nettleton?  If not we can make them.  It's not a problem.  It's just, if they are in the room...

MR. NETTLETON:  On this issue -- so the quick question (sic) is, no, there are not.  We can either take a break and see if we can produce those at the break, or the transmission system plan is in the evidence, and so I think on this particular point we could just refer to the evidence, but that may require the witnesses to find the exact reference in the evidence.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the question I have coming from that, I mean, I am not necessarily interested in the plan per se, is whether or not that plan reflects the same sort of investment pattern that is shown in this exhibit with respect to these assets.  In other words, are you going to be continuing to replace poles in the same -- with the same kind of percentage that you are replacing them here and as well as the rest of the asset, are you going to show the same levels of investment?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, because --


MR. JANIGAN:  My understanding is that you didn't forecast those capital investments beyond 2017 and 2018, as I understood from earlier answers, but I may be incorrect.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, the point that I am making poorly, and I apologize, is going back to Mr. Vels's evidence, where he said nothing in the business plan will be different from what's in the application and the evidence in the application.

So I don't want to lead Mr. Janigan astray to think that there is something different in the business plan that isn't in the application.


Now, the business plan has been filed, and everyone can review and test the theory that Mr. Vels has clearly articulated, but I think for purposes of this cross-examination, you know, the relevant documents and the answers that Mr. -- the questions that Mr. Janigan is asking can clearly be asked in the context of the transmission system plan that is in the evidence in this proceeding.

MR. JANIGAN:  Again, Mr. -- I think --


DR. ELSAYED:  Sorry, could I just clarify one thing related to that.  The transmission system plan is a component of your application in this proceeding, and it is a five-year plan; is that correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes, and in fact, it's outlined in Exhibit B1-3-1.

DR. ELSAYED:  And just a follow-up on Mr. Janigan's question.  That five-year plan includes your capital investments prioritized for the period five years, even though you are only asking for approval for two of those years; is that correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  So it shows the forecast expenditures for the test years and three years beyond the test years.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  And it is not necessary that the business plan that we will get copies of would have a separate section called "transmission system plan"?  Like, the transmission system plan is a requirement by the Ontario Energy Board for you to include as part of your application, and we have that.  That's all I wanted to confirm.

MR. JANIGAN:  What I was getting at -- and I think my intent was to try to take a look at what you are doing here and extrapolate that over, let's say a five-year period.  So for example, with respect to transformers, you're proposing in 2017 and 2018 to be replacing an average of 25 transformers a year.  Over a five-year period, assuming the same investment pattern is put in place, that would be about 125 units; correct?

MR. McLACHLAN:  Can you just return to the screen, that exhibit there, please, B 1-3-1, yes, that shows the five-year.  Thank you.

MR. NG:  So Mr. Janigan, the table shown on the screen here provides an outlook into year 2020 and 2021.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. NG:  It shows that sustaining capital is going to go to 915 and 1118.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. NG:  So that gives you an idea this is where we think we are going.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And if I am -- I really have a very simple reason for asking this.  I just want to ask whether or not that will continue the same investment pattern that is shown in my exhibit on page 22.  In other words, are you likely -- let's say, take transformers, and you are averaging 25 transformers' replacement in 27 (sic) and 2018.  Are you likely to be continuing in that investment pattern, so you will be replacing 25 transformer units per year, or can you tell that now?

MR. NG:  Mr. Janigan, I cannot comment on the details in terms of number of transformers at this moment in time, but what I am able to share with you today is our outlook, what may be the area that we plan on continue to spend money on post the test year.

The big focus there remains the CP and COB insulator, the two years we would -- within the test year we will start to get to the publicly exposed locations.  That effort will continue on for at least two-and-a-half years, well into 2021.

Subsequent to that, after that, we will continue on to deal with the remaining population of CP, COB insulator.  Then we are going to continue focus on line refurbishment.  As we go through more condition assessment, as we identify more conductor that are at end of life, we will have to deal with that.

Tower coating, the game plan is to get through the candidate that is the prime for coating to maximize the saving, minimize the future rate impact, in the next five to ten years.  We will continue on that effort.

Post 2018 and '19, there will be significant air blast circuit-breaker investment that we will be making.  Those will be around Middleport, Cherrywood, and Bruce A.  And that's the big area of spend based on today's information.

MR. JANIGAN:  And with respect to transformers?  Do you expect that same level of investment to continue?

MR. NG:  Again, without looking at all the details in the future years, I would say that the overall station expenditure from sustaining perspective would -- would be in line with historical spend.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  If it's in line with historical spend, if you do it after a five-year period, you have replaced about 125 units, and that 125 units, right now in total you have 174 units that are anywhere between low risk and very high risk, and --


MR. NG:  Mr. Janigan, I think, again, this conversation here, we never use the fleet assessment to pace ourself to decide on replacement.  The number that you cited is, all right, I am doing 2 percent today, I am doing 3 percent today.  Am I going to continue to do 3 percent forever?  No, the answer is no.  We only replace transformers when we need to replace them.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But I thought you confirmed to me that the investment pattern is likely to continue.


MR. NG:  Yes, but there is a difference between transformer and an air blast breaker.  The examples that I have given you, Middleport, Cherrywood and Bruce, those are the remaining major stations that have unreliable, obsolete, poor performance air blast breakers.


MR. JANIGAN:  All I am getting at, though, is if you continue that same level of investment with respect to transformers, you are going to have replaced all of the high risk and very high risk transformers along with a fair amount of the lower risk transformers at the same time.


And I am wondering why do you expect your existing fleet to move dramatically from low risk to very high risk. It just seems a mathematical certainty from this extrapolation.


MR. NG:  Again, Mr. Janigan, the line of questions is looking way past the test year.  During the test year, we have certainty that the transformers that we want the replace are at end of life.  Going beyond the test year, we simply do not have the kind of granularity today to provide any meaningful comment.

My point really is that we are not going to pick a number, saying 4 percent is what I want to replace, and keep on hitting the 4 percent target.  The number is always based on the condition of the asset.

If during that year, we only need to replace two, be it.  If during that year, we need to deal with 25, we would have to deal with it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I am going to move on to another topic here.


On page 24 of my compendium, as noted in undertaking TCJ2.12, Hydro One was criticized by the Auditor General for having spare transformers not aligned with its needs.


Now, back to your discussion with Ms. Lea, as I understand it you purchased four units in 2061 and expect to purchase four spare units in each of 2017 and 2018.

MR. NG:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And these units are not part of the replacement capital sustainment program.  They are for emergencies, is that correct?

MR. NG:  That is correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And if you are replacing all of your very high risk transformers in 2017 and a substantial portion of the high risk transformers, the very high risk transformers in 2017 and a substantial part of your high risk transformers, doesn't your need for spares decrease?  On page 26, I note in my compendium, it seems like they are going from 20.5 to 25.8.

MR. NG:  So, Mr. Janigan, again, this point was discussed before.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. NG:  How we set the number of spare transformers is guided by using an industrial accepted modelling, which is the Markov model.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. NG:  Now, the notion of if we have a younger fleet, will the spare requirement come down?  When you a significantly younger fleet, I will say that, yes, meaning that if the average age drops from 50 years old to 21 years old, then I will say yes.


But the truth is that given the pace that we are going at replacing the transformers in our fleet, in the foreseeable future you have continuous aging of the fleet and then you are replacing the poor performing ones, the older ones.  In general, the average age an is still fairly high up there; that's one point.


The second point is that when it comes to catastrophic transformer failure, it could happen to any unit.  It could happen to a ten-year old unit, it could happen to a 50-year-old unit, it could happen to a 65-year old unit.  It really depends on, one, the condition of the transformer itself; two, the external factor that stress the transformers.  You can have a ten-year old transformer, it could see a really big voltage surge shaking something loose in the tank, and it leads to a failure through fault.


MR. JANIGAN:  So what you are saying is there are reasons why the spare number is increasing beyond the idea that you may not need these spares, because you are replacing high risk transformers.  Have I got --


MR. NG:  That's correct.  And also keep in mind that the number of spare need to be suitable to cover the full range of transformers that we have in the system.


And if I can point you to exhibit -- just give me a minute here -- B 1-3-2, page 17.  Can you scroll down to 4.2.2?

So that section, if you were to read through it and continue on to the next page, it walks a reader through how we actually deal with transformer spare requirements.  It really comes down to one thing, that is as we standardize the type of transformers that we have in the system, there is a -- it will reduce the number of spares that's required, but that will take time.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Just flipping ahead here, I wonder if we can turn to page 36 of my compendium.

On page 36, we are dealing with the customer delivery point performance standards, and the question was that these standards were established some time ago, as I understand it.  They go back to 16 years old or the oldest at 1991 at 26 years old, and the standards we see in table 1 are based on, you know, your average performance based on these standards.  Is that correct?

MR. McLACHLAN:  Just give us a moment here.  When you refer to table 1, you are referring to table 1 within the standard on page 3?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.

MR. McLACHLAN:  Yes.  I'm sorry, the question is?

MR. JANIGAN:  When we are looking at your performance on these standards, these are the standards that were established between 1991 and 2000, I take it?

MR. McLACHLAN:  That's not exactly correct.  The standard itself is based on data from 1991 to 2000; I think that's what you are getting at.  But the standard itself was approved by the OEB in 2005.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And if you use the last ten years of data between 2005 and 2015, would you get any different result?

MR. McLACHLAN:  I can't speculate either way on that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Skipping ahead, I wonder if you could look at -- and this is not in my compendium.  It's Exhibit I, tab 3, AMPCO interrogatory 47.  And I am wondering what additional material will be given in the interrogatory requested by Dr. Elsayed yesterday that is not in this particular table?  Will it go on a project-by-project basis in your answer?

MR. McLACHLAN:  Can we just go down a little further and see who responded, the accountability?  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Janigan, can you just clarify which undertaking you are referring to?  Are you referring to the chronological discussion or the chronology --


MR. JANIGAN:  No, no, this was dealing with the percentage of capital projects completed and in-service that Dr. Elsayed and I believe Mr. Rubenstein collaborated on.

MR. NETTLETON:  Gentlemen, do you have the undertaking that Mr. Janigan is referring to?  Maybe we could put that up.

MR. PENSTONE:  So Mr. Janigan, I believe you are referring to an undertaking that Dr. Elsayed requested regarding the extent to which the current projects that were identified -- sorry?

MR. NETTLETON:  It's Exhibit J6.3.  I am sorry, it's Undertaking J6.3.  We are just going to call it up.

MR. QUESNELLE:  As you recall, we had a discussion -- Mr. -- Dr. Elsayed yesterday morning refined it, so that's at transcript Volume 7, page 4.

MR. NETTLETON:  Maybe the witnesses could just refresh what was said before the questions are asked.  And I don't know if you got the reference from yesterday.  There was a refinement made to the undertaking at the outset of yesterday's proceeding on the transcript.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Page 4, beginning line 18.

MR. PENSTONE:  So Mr. Janigan, if you don't mind, can you repeat your question now that --


MR. JANIGAN:  I am looking to see in looking at the undertaking and trying to compare what the information in AMPCO -- the AMPCO Interrogatory 47 was and whether or not it's of use in relation to this undertaking.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Janigan, why -- like, the undertaking hasn't been prepared yet.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  So it strikes me that until we get the undertaking prepared, asking the question about whether this table is going to be reflected or helpful to prepare the undertaking, I don't know how the witnesses could answer that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Well, let me ask you to turn up page 31 of my compendium.  And this is the -- and it's marked, I believe, page 11.  It's a mistake.  But it shows in the asset management category the number of in-service capital additions by a percentage.  And in 2015 you report 85 percent as the result.  And I think it's to some extent an extrapolation of both the undertaking and the exhibit, when I asked, do you -- did you do 85 percent of the projects listed, so 15 percent of the projects that you had planned to do never got put in service in 2015; is that what that tells me?

MR. PENSTONE:  No.

MR. JANIGAN:  No.  What does it tell me?

MR. PENSTONE:  It basically indicates to you the -- of the -- it's the amount of assets that were placed into service in 2015.  I think you will hear in the next panel that because of the nature of these projects and the timing of these projects, that our ability to precisely meet annual targets is challenging.

However, as we pointed out at the outset, our target is to achieve the three-year in-service additions between '14, '15, and '16 as an aggregate total of the forecast in-service additions over that three-year period.

You will have, during -- as a result of the execution of those projects on an annual basis some discrepancies on an annual basis to meet annual targets.

MR. JANIGAN:  And that's why you get 106 percent of your budget -- cap ex as a percentage of budget, for example, in 2015.

MR. PENSTONE:  I believe that's 2014.

MR. JANIGAN:  No, underneath that.

MR. PENSTONE:  Oh, sorry, I am looking at the wrong row.  You are correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I take it that questions associated with how this information with respect to asset management is dealt with by management is probably best directed to the execution panel?  Or is it directed to you in relation to planning?

MR. PENSTONE:  Well, we plan the work.  The execution groups that accomplish the work will be on the next panel, and they are in a better position to explain the factors that may prompt a difference between planned time lines and actual accomplished time lines.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I have got some few other questions, but I have blown my credibility completely with respect to my time estimates on cross-examination, and I think, Mr. Chair, those are all my questions for this panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  We have some questions for the panel, but we will take a break first, Mr. Nettleton.  And we will return at five to 11:00.  Okay.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:34 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:57 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, please be seated. So we have some questions from the panel.  I will ask Mr. Thompson to go first.
Questions by the Board:


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thanks, Mr. Chairman.  I have a few questions, some are of a clarifying nature, and others are what I would describe as big-picture questions.

I'd like to start, if I might, with a big-picture question, and probably the best way to do this is to pull up the prospectus which is part of CME Interrogatory No. 2.

And this document, as I understand it, describes the state of the businesses as of October, the end of October, 2015.  Have I got that straight?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And if you go to page 36, you will see there at the bottom of the page the projected capital expenditures at that point in time for both transmission and distribution for the years 2015 to 2019 inclusive.  Do you see that?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And these numbers for transmission, I think, are on the record in this proceeding in other documents, but I thought it was easiest to refer them here. If you then jump over to page 42, which is describing the transmission business only, down in the bottom, second-last paragraph, the middle, it says:
"The company expects that it will be required to make significant investments in its existing infrastructure over the long-term.  The company anticipates that it will spend $800 to $900 million per year over the next five years on capital expenditures relating to its transmission business."

So just stopping there, was that essentially the essence of the plan that was being developed at that time, 800 to 900 million for the next five years?

MR. PENSTONE:  So the prospectus was based on the business plan that was established in the previous year.  It also reflects any decisions that the OEB had made related to our proposed investments.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I understand that.  But my big-picture question is:  Was 800 to 900 million what you were planning for 2017 and beyond at this point in time, the fall --


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- the fall of 2015?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, these were the investments that were in the business plan that was -- the existing business plan that the IPO used.  So went you say the fall of 2015, the business plan that the IPO was predicated upon was developed previously, in the previous year.

MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that.  I am talking about the one that we haven't seen, that you were preparing and then it got stopped for some reason.

I just wondered, big picture, was it 800 to 900 million a year for the next five years?

MR. PENSTONE:  In the prospectus, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  No, in the plan that you were working on.

MR. PENSTONE:  At that time?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. PENSTONE:  I actually can't answer that question.  I do know the prospectus was based on the previous business plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  I've got that.  So you can't give me the order of magnitude that was then being worked on?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Will that surface in the chronology? Will we have quantums in that surface?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, my understanding is that Hydro One intends to go back to the last OEB approval for transmission, the 2014-0140, and work from there forward which would include the time frame of the IPO, which was one month before the November business plan that has been received.

I think what the confusion here is, Mr. Thompson, is that the planning exercise that Mr. Penstone is responsible for, the testimony is that it's an ongoing process.  So his issue is this document is for obviously securities purposes, and it was using the approved business plan that had been put forward and had been seen by the OEB.

MR. THOMPSON:  I have that.  My question is, again, are we going to see those numbers that I am questioning about?  Is that what you are telling us?

MR. NETTLETON:  My understanding is that there will be a base period.  There will be numbers presented in that chronology that relate to the capital expenditures that were thought through along that continuum, along that chronology.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, what I was trying to get, Mr. Penstone, again just big picture, let's assume it's in the $800 to $900 million per year amount as described in the prospectus for the plan that was then being worked on, the plan for 2017 and beyond, in the fall of 2015.

MR. PENSTONE:  So, Mr. Thompson, I just need to be clear.  The 2013 business plan informed our transmission application that was made in 2014.  The outcome of the settlement that arose as a result of that an application was reflected in the IPO.

So the prospectus, the information in the prospectus was deliberately included as publicly available information at the time.

Now in the background, as Mr. Nettleton has pointed out, planning was being developed for future business plans and future applications.

MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that, and I am asking approximately how much per year was reflected in that work-in-progress plan as of the fall of 2015.  Is it 800 to 900 million a year, or some other substantially larger number?

MR. PENSTONE:  So there was -- nothing was reflected in the IPO based on plans that weren't already publicly disclosed, or expenditures that hadn't been previously publicly disclosed or approved.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's not my question.

MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  What is the number that was reflected in the plans you were working on?

MR. NETTLETON:  And that, Mr. Thompson, that's the number that will be in the chronology because that's -- those are the numbers that were in the November business plan, and that's going to be the basis of the chronology undertaking that we are working on.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you don't know that number?  You are the vice president of planning, sir.

MR. PENSTONE:  Sir, I am very familiar with the facts and figures that underpin this particular application.  I cannot at this time give you, with any degree of confidence, what those numbers were in the November proposal.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I wanted to compare what those numbers are to the total that's shown in Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 13.  This document's been placed in front of you on a number of occasions, and I make the total for the five years ending 2021 to be about $6.47 billion. Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. PENSTONE:  Could we call up that exhibit?

MR. THOMPSON:  Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 1, page 13, table 5.  What I did was just sum up the numbers from 2017 to 2021.

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And I got 6147, roughly.  Are you okay with that?

MR. PENSTONE:  I think you are roughly correct, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

All right, and then back to the prospectus, just to close off this high-level question, there are numbers there for distribution as well, again, I assume based on the plan that had then been approved for distribution by the OEB; is that right?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And do you know the effect that these changed methods of planning are likely to have on distribution?  If you don't, just say so.

MR. PENSTONE:  So I am also accountable for developing the plans for distribution, so I have an awareness, certainly, of the distribution business plan and, uh, I have an awareness of what the proposed investment levels are in that plan and why they are.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are they likely to be substantially more than what's shown in the prospectus for the years '17 to '19?

MR. PENSTONE:  So again, I can't answer that question with confidence without reviewing the details of those plans.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, let me move on then.

Now, in terms of a -- just some terminology, in the filed evidence you talk about the five-year capital plan, the investment plan, and the business plan.  Those phrases are used at various times.

Is there a difference between the three of them, or are they all the same?

MR. PENSTONE:  The investment plan is an input into the business plan in our vernacular.  The investment plan focuses upon investments across the corporation, whether they be wires investments or IT investments.  It's a consolidation of all of those investments.  They are then used as input to create the corporate business plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  And are each of them five years in the planning horizon?

MR. PENSTONE:  We create five-year business plans, correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so just back to the discussion you have had with other witnesses about selecting projects that you then prioritize, and so is this done for five years?  In other words, do you have a long list of projects at various stages of development in this process that you are describing?

MR. PENSTONE:  We actually do it for six years.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that gives a long list of projects, which you then, I think, prioritize and optimize, if I have got that straight; is that what happens?

MR. PENSTONE:  So, correct, we have candidate investments, we go through an optimization exercise.  The outcome of that optimization exercise is then -- goes to what we refer to as enterprise engagement, but essentially it provides us with a five-year view for business planning purposes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then the projects -- sorry, the envelope -- the dollar envelope that's selected for the test period or for each year of the test period, is that based on Hydro One's assessment of the tolerance or acceptance -- tolerance for a rate increase?

MR. PENSTONE:  So --


MR. THOMPSON:  The 3 to 5 percent you were talking about with Ms. Blanchard and others?

MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  So just to be clear, the 3 to 5 percent was used as an assumed number.  These were working assumptions that were used to enable us to come up with an initial optimized file.  We knew that in parallel with this that we were having the customer consultations that we have described, and that the outcome of those customer consultations would either confirm or not those particular assumptions, and we always expected and we did make adjustments to that initial file.

In terms of your question about rates, what we do is try -- is find the balance point between rates, asset needs, and customer needs and preferences.

MR. THOMPSON:  But is it the -- the business plan, the number -- the rate number, I think, in 2017 is 4.2 percent.  Is it that number that -- have I got that straight?  No?

MR. PENSTONE:  I think that's been adjusted lately based on the cost-of-capital calculations.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I was just looking at this document that came in today, 2017 net impact on average transmission rates, 4.2 percent?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  So again, I want to confirm, I believe that that was calculated before the Board's decision related to the cost of capital.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, anyway.

MR. PENSTONE:  But you are right.

MR. THOMPSON:  What do you think the number is?

MR. PENSTONE:  No, but you are right.  When we developed the business plan and when we developed this particular application, those were the quantums of the increases.

MR. THOMPSON:  And is it that number, then, that determines -- effectively determines the capital envelope?

MR. PENSTONE:  It establishes both capital and O&M expenditure levels.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then in terms of actual allocation of capital to projects, you are not necessarily committed to the order that's in your list.  You can do some, do others, and allocate the funds to serve the best interests of Hydro One; have I got that straight?

MR. PENSTONE:  I would like to say to serve the best interests of Hydro One and its customers, but, yes.  We developed the investment plan based on the information that we have at the time.  Ultimately, the board will determine what our revenue requirement is, and consequently we will operate within the capital envelopes that are consistent within that determination.

I agree with you, Mr. Thompson, though, that adjustments can and have been made to our plans.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay.  So another big-picture question:  What happened around November to change the process in which you were then engaged?  Was there some communication from senior management as to what was going to take place from that point forward?  Can you just tell us what happened?

MR. PENSTONE:  So we were simply advised that the board was unwilling to commit to a five-year business plan.  I was not party to those conversations.  That was the outcome of the discussions that were occurring, that they did approve a budget for 2016, and as I think Mr. Vels has previously testified, they want -- we -- they wanted a more detailed examination of the business's operations before they would be comfortable with endorsing a plan, a five-year plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  So who communicated that to you?  You are the vice-president of planning.  Did that come from the president, or is it in writing?

MR. PENSTONE:  I don't recall it coming in writing, but it was certainly communicated to us.

MR. THOMPSON:  And who communicated the next steps to you?

MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry.  So Mr. Thompson, I am afraid I can't answer exactly how that message was communicated and the actual vehicle to communicate it to us.  But we were essentially advised that we would restart the planning process for...


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, and was all of this initial investigation that you conducted, between the fall of '15 and into the spring of '16, directed from above?

MR. PENSTONE:  So I want to be clear on a couple of things.

As we have described earlier, there was a number of parallel investigations that were taking place as it relates to our asset condition and our -- the risks that those assessments concluded.

So, for example, we have described the process by which we got better information about the extent and nature of the issues with our insulators.  That occurred over an extended period, and we continued to get more information through the November/December, past that period that informed the levels of investments that are in this application.  And in fact, we got further information about the insulators as recently as June of this particular year.


So what that pause essentially did was it enabled us to get more and better information about asset condition.

MR. THOMPSON:  Were you directed to get it from above was my question.


MR. PENSTONE:  No.  The direction that -- the only direction that I received was take care, make sure we take care of the assets.


MR. THOMPSON:  Any other rationale provided?


MR. PENSTONE:  Rationale provided in terms of?

MR. THOMPSON:  Of embarking on this further investigation and starting a new business planning process.


MR. PENSTONE:  I can't answer that question.  We were just advised that the business plan would be delayed.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Just a couple of points on the reliability risk topic, which has been flogged to death.  There are reliability risk numbers that are in the evidence in the no-investment scenario.  One is 10 percent for a period of two years, and another is 20 percent for a longer period.  Do you recall those numbers?

MR. PENSTONE:  I do.  I believe they are in Exhibit A1.

MR. THOMPSON:  And I took from the discussion that each of those numbers stems from a scenario where there is no capital expenditure made at all on transmission.  Have I got that straight, or have I misunderstood that?

MR. PENSTONE:  So if you referring to the table, table 2 that's in Exhibit A3-1?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, that's one of them and the other's in the IPSOS report, I believe.  The 20 percent number is in there.


MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  So I will speak to what's
in A3-1.  The second column refers to the relative change in reliability risk if no investments were made.  And again, the reliability risk calculation was formulated on investments in three particular areas, and only three particular areas.

So this particular calculation would have only applied to if no investments were made to lines, transformers or breakers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Does the 20 percent apply to a broader array of investments?


MR. PENSTONE:  I am sorry, sir, the 20 percent?

MR. THOMPSON:  It's in the IPSOS report.  I think Mr. McLachlan spoke to that the other day.


MR. McLACHLAN:  Yes, the 20 percent, I believe, in the IPSOS report was -- the scenario we were speaking to was the zero scenario.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. McLACHLAN:  The illustrative scenarios 1, 2 and 3 were in the range of 10 percent increase, 10 percent decrease of the reliability risk.  The zero scenario, which was based on the historic average rate increase of about 3.2 percent, was the one you are referring to that is a 20 percent in reliability risk increase.


MR. THOMPSON:  But is it over five years?


MR. McLACHLAN:  Yes, that's correct.  That is over five years.


MR. THOMPSON:  So it's both a broader range of investments and longer time frame.


MR. McLACHLAN:  Yes, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Have I got that clear now?  Thanks.  But is that not an unrealistic scenario?  Is there anywhere in the evidence where we have the increase in reliability risk associated with a capital expenses envelope in the 800 to 900 million per year range?  In other words, business as usual, what's the change in reliability risk?

MR. McLACHLAN:  Mr. Thompson, I think, just to confirm your question, is there a reliability risk percentage number in there that's related to the kind of what the historic business as usual numbers have been.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's the question.


MR. McLACHLAN:  Yes.  And is there an exact number that relates to that?  I would say no.  I would say that the number is in between the zero scenario, which is based on the historic 3.2 percent average increase, and the scenario 1 which is, for the most part, based on historic levels of funding.

So the zero scenario, which was 20 percent, the illustrative 1 scenario, which was -- sorry, 20 percent degradation, 20 percent reliability risk increase, the illustrative scenario 1, 10 percent reliability risk increase --


MR. THOMPSON:  That's zero.


MR. McLACHLAN:  The business as usual would be somewhere in between that zero and the illustrative 1 scenario.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you are saying it would be 10 and 20, or 10 and the 2 or something that's --


MR. McLACHLAN:  No, I would say it's between the 10 and the 20.


MR. THOMPSON:  10 and the 20?

MR. McLACHLAN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  That surprises me.  Can that be calculated?  I am a little puzzled as to why the customers weren't told if you want us to stay business as usual, the reliability risk will change from blank to blank.

MR. McLACHLAN:  So just to clarify, the three illustrative scenarios when we discussed them with our customers, just to reiterate, we indicated they were points along the scale.  They weren't fixed.  We could come up with a 1.5 illustrative scenario, a 2.5, a 3.2, or whatever; they were points along the scale.

But that scenario one, illustrative scenario 1 was the one that was closest to business -- to historic spending levels, and that we indicated to them that underneath or reliability risk tool, which was, you know, a new tool, that we had calculated that underneath that scenario and the funding level that was there, that that would result from our tool in a reliability risk increasing by 9 percent.

And we indicated to them that was the closest scenario to basically the recent historic spend levels.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, I think I must have forgotten the 9 percent in that scenario.  Let's move forward.

Just to the insulator replacements issue, there was a lot of discussion about that, and you talked about the number of insulator strings that you have from these manufacturers that provided defective insulators, is what I understand you to be saying.  Is that a fair description of it?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And these two companies, I think you indicated, went out of business, and I believe one of the exhibits indicate that they went out of business in 1982.  That's B, tab 6, something or other.

MR. NG:  Actually, I do not believe we know exactly when they went out of business.  The 1982 number, the significance of that number is we have identified the vintage made by CP and COB between 1965 to 1982 as the groups of insulator that are suffering from this manufacturing defect.  Prior to 1965 they were good.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And how long have you known of this defect?  You indicate that some transmitters have gotten rid of all of theirs, and you were working on yours, but how long has this defect been known?

MR. NG:  Within the insulator industry, the cement groove issue was known in the '80s, early '80s, and different utility have taken different approach in terms of how do they want to deal with it.  Some decided to replace right away, some take an approach that, let's monitor and see what happens.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that the approach Hydro One took?  Monitor and see what happens?

MR. NG:  Yes, yes.  Ontario Hydro.

MR. THOMPSON:  Ontario Hydro, okay.  But had -- Hydro One and its predecessors have had 40 years to work away at this problem; is that straight?  Have I got that straight?

MR. NG:  So if you say from 1980s to today --


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, 30, not 40.

MR. NG:  30-ish years.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thirty-four.

MR. NG:  A couple of points, Mr. Thompson.  The one point that I mentioned before is, the quantum of the problem is such that the company, Ontario Hydro, went through a lot of expansions back in the years.  We have by far, by far, the largest population of CP and COB.  No one even comes close to what we have.

So the decision made by Ontario Hydro at that time was, let's take a look at it, let's do some monitoring, and if we do not rush through the replacement, let's keep the asset in the ground for a longer time and deferring the rate impact.  That basically was the gist of it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, if you go to Mr. Janigan's compendium, K8.2, page 13.  This is the -- Table 12 is the insulator portfolio replacement numbers.

Is this referring to these defective insulators?

MR. NG:  Yes.  The insulator replacement program that we have had since the '80s was driven by the fact that we were testing CP and COB and we were replacing them on a yearly basis.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the frequency of between 2012-2015, give or take on average, is maybe 200 circuit structures a year?  I am just ballparking that, but is that roughly the frequency at which you have been --


MR. McLACHLAN:  Can you go down one page, please.

MR. THOMPSON:  One page, sorry.

MR. NG:  Yes, based on the table, that will be the numbers.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And is that sort of indicative of what's been going on for 35 years, 34 years, that kind of pace?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Thompson, I am not sure Mr. Ng can answer that, because I don't think he has been an employee of Hydro One for that length of period.  But --


MR. THOMPSON:  It goes back a long way.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- I just want to understand the question just for the record.  Are you asking whether all of these replacements were due to the manufacturing defect?  Because this is, again, on a fleet-wide basis.  And the evidence that came out was that this whole issue of the manufacturing defect was ramped up, the numbers here were ramped up because of what happened in March of 2015.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I understood that.  That's where a line fell in a parking lot or something.

MR. NG:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But back to your counsel's interjection.  Do these numbers include circuit structures other than the defective ones?

MR. NG:  I would say that the lion's share of the replacement in the past four, five -- four years from 2012 to '15 were due to CP and COB.  That said, occasionally the other type of insulator, the -- particularly polymeric type, they will have issues.  Once we have enough information to show that a certain set of polymeric insulator are not performing well, we will replace it using this particular bucket of funding.

MR. THOMPSON:  This document shows the replacement getting ramped up big-time in 2016 and then almost double again in '17 and '18.

MR. NG:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's a bit of a panic, isn't it, compared to the old approach?

MR. NG:  It is, because the panic sets in when we have the event last March, whereby the conductor got dropped and fell and hit a car below that lot.

The big panic really is based on -- the feedback from the field, the crew, they were able to tell us by looking at the insulator, they are able to see crack on the shell, porcelain shell.  That is a good indication that strength has suffered, and the testing report confirmed the observations.

The fact that we have 37 percent of tested unit fail below rated strength and 12 percent of the unit has less than 84 percent of rated strength, that's highlighted urgency of needing to replace them.

And also, in the next four-and-a-half to five years, the focus here is, let's replace all the insulator that are located at locations exposed to public parking lot, highway crossing, the railway crossing, the hospital, golf courses, that kind of locations.

MR. THOMPSON:  You did mention in your discussion, I forget, with one of the questioners that a line falling was -- this happened previously.

MR. NG:  There were more line-drop incident, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And lines falling due to defective insulators?  Is there a history of some of those incidents?

MR. NG:  Yes, there is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so I guess my question is why should ratepayers have to pay for the panic when you have had all this time to work away at this problem?

MR. NG:  I think the ratepayer is paying for it, either we go earlier or go later.

MR. THOMPSON:  But the shareholder has no exposure here?  That is what I hear you saying.


MR. NG:  Can I have a minute?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, sure.

MR. NG:  So Mr. Thompson, your last question was?

MR. THOMPSON:  I think my last statement was, I hear you saying the shareholder should have no responsibility for this panic situation that is --


MR. NG:  Shareholder?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, shareholder.

MR. NG:  I wasn't mentioning shareholder at all.

MR. THOMPSON:  I mentioned it.  You say the ratepayers should pay for all this.


MR. NG:  I see it as -- as an asset manager, I have a duty to report.  When I see that this large population of insulators has deteriorated to where they are today, I need to deal with them.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  My last question is, and I think this is when Mr. Rubenstein got your blood pressure going up, Mr. Ng, but you got into quite an animated debate about unit costs with respect to his table there.  Do you recall that?


MR. NG:  Sure, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And that made me think that Hydro One uses unit costs in measuring its performance.  Is that right?

MR. NG:  Mr. Thompson, Hydro One is not proposing to use unit costs as a performance measure.  It is not in the proposed scorecard.  We use unit cost, unit rate -- or unit cost in the company to do a certain type of program investment -- sorry, program estimate.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Does that mean you use unit costs to develop budgets?

MR. PENSTONE:  For certain types of work.  So, for example, pole replacements, where there is large volumes of assets that would get replaced, it's impractical to be able to say the cost of each individual pole.  So we use an average unit cost to estimate the total cost of the program.


MR. NG:  To add to Mr. Penstone's point, it's large volume and repetitive work, pole replacement, insulator replacement.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, if we -- just my last question or last questions, let's go to page 22 of Mr. Rubenstein's compendium, K6.1.

Before I ask this question, is there anywhere in the record where we have the list of the unit costs that Hydro One uses in its -- either its budgeting, or in its performance evaluation?


MR. NG:  No, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can that be provided?

MR. PENSTONE:  So, Mr. Thompson, the unit costs for executing the type of work that Mr. Ng just described, those costs would come from our execution lines of business.  They'll be following us at the next panel.


MR. THOMPSON:  So I should ask them to get this information?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  You can't undertake to provide it?

MR. PENSTONE:  We could undertake to provide it.  We would simply be going to them to say provide us with this particular information.  It's just a matter of process, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, just before I close this off, at page 22 of this compendium, there are, I think, seven categories of topics: transformer portfolio, circuit breaker portfolio, protection systems portfolio, conductor portfolio, wood pole portfolio, steel structure portfolio, underground cable portfolio.

Are there unit costs for each of those categories that are used in your budgeting or performance evaluation?  Is this the kind of thing I can get from the next panel?


MR. PENSTONE:  So typically, when we talk about transformers, circuit breakers and protections, those replacements would be undertaken through our integrated station projects.  They don't have the characteristics that Mr. Ng described earlier, and that would be conducive to unit costing.  Wood poles, yes.

MR. NG:  So all of this list of assets here, the wood poles, tower coating, insulator replacement will be the investment that will be estimated based on unit rate.  And the rest of it, transformers, breakers and protections, because of the integrated nature of the stations integrated investment, unit cost is not a good factor or parameter to use.

We filled out the table to be helpful.  It was based on the previous information that we were able to collect. The number that we use here is a proxy.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, I will save that for the next panel.  Are insulators in this list?  Are they --


MR. NG:  Can we scroll through the list?  Let's see what we have here.  No, it's not.


MR. THOMPSON:  And are they subject to a unit cost budgeting or performance evaluation?

MR. NG:  Yes, they are.  But, Mr. Thompson, unit costs is not as simple as one unit cost for all insulator replacements, depending on the location, structure type, double circuit, single circuit, higher structures, equipment we need to get out to the site to get the job done.  Unit costs will change from structure type to type to type.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Ng, can you clarify?  I believe you responded yes, that the insulators would be subject to unit cost for estimate and performance evaluation.

MR. NG:  Performance evaluation as in?


MR. QUESNELLE:  After the fact, how did you -- is there performance tied to the unit cost execution?

MR. NG:  Yes, we do look at a unit cost after the work is done, to look at how close we are to the estimate.

MR. PENSTONE:  And to understand why the rationale for any differences between the unit costs that we used for planning purposes and the actual unit costs that were incurred.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So it's a monitoring of performance, but it doesn't provide for performance as far as incentive to incent in a compensation, for instance, or a scorecard generally?

I think, just picking up on Mr. Thompson's earlier comment about using unit costs for performance evaluation, I believe it was in the context of incenting a performance as opposed to monitoring for continuous improvement.

I just wanted to make it clear as to what we are talking about when we talk about performance evaluation, what's the purpose of it.


MR. PENSTONE:  So I am not in a position to be able to confirm whether unit costs and reducing unit costs are in individual performance contracts with the lines of business that are actually executing the work.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Dr. Elsayed?


DR. ELSAYED:  I have a few questions mostly related to your past performance in the project management area, and what some of the things you are doing now to improve that performance.

So I would like to take you first to Staff IR No. 60, which is I, tab 1, schedule 60.  And I would like to look at your response, first of all, to point (a), where you say -- no, you go up a bit -- yes, sorry, (a), that between 2012 and 2015 the approved capital envelope was underspent.

Can you confirm that for that period, that four-year period; is that correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  So the reason I am pausing is just to confirm, in some years over that period it was slightly overspent, but over the course of the entire four years it's roughly aligned with the actual cap ex expenditure, and again, I am going to refer to Exhibit I3-46 that provides a summary.

DR. ELSAYED:  I am just curious what you meant when you say the capital envelope was underspent in that particular response.

MR. PENSTONE:  So it would have meant that we did not anticipate going through the approved capital envelope, and as a result of that there wasn't a need to redirect funds to stay beneath and within that envelope.  Redirection would typically occur if we forecast that our expenditures are going to be beyond the approved levels.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, with that in mind then, if I can take you to the next part, (b) of the same IR.  Now, in part (b), you provide a list of projects for that same period where there have been either cost variance, schedule variance, or scope variance.  Can you confirm that?

MR. PENSTONE:  So these are the list of projects that were subject to an interim review variance, a so-called IROV process, and the IROV process is triggered by the factors that you just described:  changes in scope, cost, or timing.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, and if you look at that list, I think I counted about 31 projects, subject to check, and most of them, I think 26 of them, were -- had a budget variance, and I think your definition, I think in the same response here, the budget variance threshold is more than 10 percent of the approved budget, and greater than 500,000, or a variance greater than $2 million.

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  So basically these are significant variances for each of those projects that required an interim review variance; is that correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  So I guess my first question is, how were you able to accommodate these significant, what I would classify them as significant variances, and still remain within your capital envelope?

MR. PENSTONE:  Without getting into -- at a very high level --


DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MR. PENSTONE:  -- if you look at a number of these projects, a number of them were actually caused by reductions in scope.  So for example, that would presumably lead to a reduction in the total cost of the project.  In some cases, they were caused by a deferral of capital expenditures.  So that enabled us to stay within the envelope.  Capital was extended into future years.

Typically, that is identified as a schedule variance.  And again, delays in projects can be related to many, many factors, and the execution panel can describe a number of those factors, anything from material availability to outage availability and so forth.

So as a consequence, some of the planned cap ex got shifted into future years.  A couple of them had cost decreases as well.  So the combination of, yes, we had some where the costs went up, and others the IROV's costs went down.  In a third case the proposed expenditures got pushed out into future years because of conditions that were specific to individual investments.  The aggregate impact of all of those would have led to our ability to stay within the approved cap ex levels.

DR. ELSAYED:  So these variances you talked about, reducing scope, pushing it further in time, extending the schedule, these were project-specific.  You did not do that in order to stay within the capital envelope?

MR. PENSTONE:  They were project-specific, correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  In other words, they were driven by the specific project circumstances, not that you were concerned about going over budget, so you started deferring projects?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct, that relates to the response in (a), between 2012 and '15 redirection was not required to stay within approved capital envelopes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  When you talk about schedule variance, we talked before -- and I will mention that in one of my questions later -- about contingency for the project cost.

Do you also include schedule contingency in your release estimate?  Do you allow for unforeseen circumstances in developing your schedule for the project?

MR. PENSTONE:  The rationale for the contingency is dependent -- the rationale for the contingency and the level of contingency is dependent on a number of factors.  The execution panel, I think, is in the best position to explain those factors to you.

So for example, there may be uncertainties surrounding permitting and approvals and the timing of permitting and approvals.  That would be factored into the risk assessment of the project and would have an impact on the contingency.  That is one example of circumstances that would influence contingency levels.

And again, sir, the best panel to give you the specifics about all of the factors and the formulas that relate to contingencies is the next panel.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yeah, but correct me if I am wrong.  Your group is responsible for developing the cost estimates for these projects.

MR. PENSTONE:  No.

DR. ELSAYED:  So who actually develops the estimate then?  The execution group?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  And those estimates are provided to us.  And those estimates would include contingencies.

DR. ELSAYED:  So your plan then, your investment plan that you are responsible for, has cost estimates.

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  And they come from where?

MR. PENSTONE:  All right.  So in some cases -- and this goes back to your request for an undertaking -- in some cases the estimates are planner's estimates.  That would come from within my group, and they would be based on our experience with past projects of a similar nature and scope.

The budgetary estimates and the detailed estimates would come from our engineering and construction services group.

DR. ELSAYED:  So just to be clear about that distinction, what goes into your capital investment plan are your planning estimates?

MR. PENSTONE:  No.  It's a combination of all three, depending upon the point in the process that the particular project exists when it's been identified.

So, for example, there are investments in this particular application where the estimates are very well developed.  They are detailed estimates, and they are included in this application.

There are other projects where we have not reached the stage yet where we've got budgetary or detailed estimates, and we are simply relying on estimates of a lesser precision developed by planners.

So this application include as combination of all three types of estimates.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  One of the recommendations of the Navigant study was that you hold the contingency at the program level.

Can you explain to me how, if you do implement this recommendation, how this would have been applied in the case we just talked about in the 2012 to 2015 capital program performance?

MR. PENSTONE:  Again, sir, I would suggest that you would get a more accurate answer from the next panel that is accountable for executing the work and drawing down on contingencies in terms of what process -- how the current processes may be changed as a result of that Navigant recommendation.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Can we go to Staff IR No. 102, please?  Just on the top table there, just a quick question about -- these are two elements, correct me if I am wrong, that are included in the corporate scorecard.  Is that correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  Let's just think about a hypothetical scenario where you have a bunch of capital projects in your investment plan and you have executed -- maybe I am using the wrong word.  I am sure you are going to tell me this is part of the next panel as well.  You have executed these projects and ended up doing only some of the projects, not all, you were not able to complete the execution of the capital program.  And also let's say hypothetically that -- would you agree, first of all, that based on that scenario, this measure would look pretty good?

MR. PENSTONE:  So I want to be clear on your scenario.  You are saying that we launched projects, but didn't necessarily meet the targeted in-service date?

DR. ELSAYED:  Well, let's leave the in-service.  Let's look at the one that's highlighted in yellow there.  And let's say your capital investment plan had 100 projects, but you only did 80 of them, which because of -- let's say for resource limitations or any other reason, which will impact negatively on your reliability risk.

My question is even though what you have done in terms of completing the work program is not good for the business, this measure would look good on the corporate scorecard?

MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  So if you don't mind, I need to read the response, as it wasn't prepared by this particular panel.

DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.  Yes, that's fine.

MR. PENSTONE:  So I believe in our response, we have actually confirmed your thesis on this.

But I am also going to suggest that the scorecard itself would be a balanced scorecard, so that some unintended consequences of one particular metric would be offset by another, and should be offset by another to make sure that the situation that you've just described would not occur.

DR. ELSAYED:  So to pursue that a bit, if I am a member of your board or your executive and I see that you have under-spent your capital program, which is a good thing according to the measure, the consequences in the long-term would be your reliability will suffer.  They may not see that for another few years, is that correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Well, again, back to the balanced scorecard, there would be, I would presume, an offsetting metric that would suggest that, yes, you may be under-spending your capital, but to your exact point, did you accomplish the work.

DR. ELSAYED:  But that's exactly my question.  What is the offsetting measure that you have in the corporate scorecard?  Or is that a question that you cannot answer?

MR. PENSTONE:  I am reminded by one of my colleagues the actual metric is not to under-spend or not to overspend.  It's a precision metric; you spend what you have committed to spend, your outcomes -- and you achieve the outcomes that you expect to achieve.

DR. ELSAYED:  I understand that.  But again hypothetically, the precision.  Hydro One spends exactly the amount you have approved, but on a completely different set of projects -- just hypothetically.

And as a result of that, there are some consequences because you already have done this very exhaustive exercise of prioritizing your work, going to your customers and talking to them, and developing a reliability risk and coming up with a program that you presented to your board that we have seen in the documents.  And you said I am going to execute those projects.  And here is a measure in the corporate scorecard that measures your performance in terms of the amount of money that you are going to spend relative to that approval.

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes, right.

DR. ELSAYED:  My question is if you end up doing something different, is there anything in the scorecard that will tell me as a board member that you have not completed the program as planned?

MR. PENSTONE:  So while some of my colleagues are checking the scorecard, I will say that there are instances where, in spite of our efforts that have been described over the last number of days, to arrive at this plan, and we believe that these investments are the ones that will mitigate the risks.  Over the course of time, there may be situations that we did not anticipate and were not included in this plan.

The redirection that would occur, and those new -- the need for those new investments would frankly -- the benefits would be greater than what was in this plan.  Under those circumstances we would redirect, because the needs and benefits and risks of addressing this emerging requirement are greater than what we have currently identified.

We would stay within -- we would then have to make a choice.  The choice would be stay within the capital envelope as approved or to exceed the capital envelope, to your point, to enable us to accomplish all the work to meet the customers' needs and to manage reliability risk and spend beyond that capital envelope to be able to address this new need.  That would be a decision that we would have to make as a corporation, and depending on the levels of investment, that would inform the approach that we would adopt.

DR. ELSAYED:  So who in the organization would make that decision if you have to make a material change either to the content of your investment plan or to the envelope?

MR. PENSTONE:  So that would depend on the authority register that exists within the company.  If it's at a significant level, we would go to the individual or in some cases potentially the board, because the authority register requires the board itself to approve certain levels, and we would advise them.  And you will see in business cases themselves that this is a new need --


DR. ELSAYED:  Sorry to interrupt you, but I wasn't talking about project level, I am talking about at the program level.

MR. PENSTONE:  Oh, at the total envelope level?

DR. ELSAYED:  Yeah, who would approve any material change in your capital investment plan?

MR. PENSTONE:  So for us to go beyond the approved capital expenditures, that would require the approval certainly of the CFO and the COO to be able to do that, as a minimum.

DR. ELSAYED:  This is for the capital envelope, the dollars, but how about if you make any material change in the content in terms of deferring projects in favour of others?  Who approves that?

MR. PENSTONE:  So on an individual project basis that would be in accordance with the authority register.  If, for example, it came to me and this was new investment that had not been previously contemplated, within the business case we would already declare whether we would redirect to stay within the envelope or not.  And if I had to go beyond the envelope, I would then have to seek the knowledge and approval of the COO and CFO.

DR. ELSAYED:  Well, sorry, let me be clear on that.  So any change within the investment plan, as long as you are staying within that envelope, it is your decision to make changes to the content without having to go further in the organization.

MR. PENSTONE:  Within my limits of authority, that's correct.  So -- and again, the business case would have to describe the circumstances and reasons for -- that it has a new and higher priority over other plans that we had previously proposed to undertake, so I would be accountable to make sure that that redirection occurred and we would still stay within that capital envelope.

Again, these approval authorities escalate upwards within the organization, and the individuals authorizing those incremental expenditures would be aware of the approach that we would adopt, stay within the capital envelope, understand the consequences of staying within the capital envelope, or exceed the capital envelope and then understand how we would be able to do that and the consequences of doing that.

DR. ELSAYED:  And the same concept will apply if for some good reason you have an approved investment plan and you ended up doing only 80 percent of that because you determined later on that the 20 percent is not necessary?

MR. PENSTONE:  Oh, I...  The investment plan is all predicated on necessary investments.  The only -- sorry, I think -- from a sustainment capital perspective.  From a development capital perspective, and as we discussed about earlier, many of those are based on externalities.

So there are allowances in the current plan that -- for development capital where we anticipate the projects will occur based on information that we have out of the regional planning process, for example, customers -- indications from customers.  That can change.  And those expenditures may not materialize.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Just a couple of quick questions. If we can go to Exhibit B1, tab 4, Schedule 1.  And if you go to page 11 on that, please.  If you look at that starting at line 20, you talk about:

"Hydro One has approved an initiative to further improve the estimating processes and methodologies, which includes a new estimating tool that would be operational in late 2016."

And then if you go to page 20, under "contingency", you also talk about -- line 17:

"A more rigorous analysis of investment risks in the planning and scoping stages will ensure that an appropriate level of risk dollars is assigned for each capital project during the project definition phase."

So my question, I guess, is, first of all, what is the status?  You talk about a more rigorous analysis for the contingency and working with somebody to refine your estimating process.  Where are we with those initiatives?

MR. NETTLETON:  Dr. Elsayed, you will notice on the bottom of the page of the exhibit that there is a witness name, and that corresponds with the panel of witnesses.  So Mr. Bowness is responsible for this part of the case, and that's the execution panel.

DR. ELSAYED:  That's execution, okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah.  So I think that it's probably best that we have the witness responsible for this evidence answer those questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yeah, I appreciate that.  It is just that I am assuming that the outcome of those initiatives will impact you as a planner, in terms of the planning and estimating process.

MR. PENSTONE:  Absolutely, we are expecting --


DR. ELSAYED:  That's my question, is because these are initiatives that are right now in the middle of being finalized, I guess one of them says late 2016, how do you see that affecting your ability as a planning group to do your job?

MR. PENSTONE:  So very simply, it improves the precision and timing of the estimates that we will be getting for the various projects that are proposed.  So -- and as a result of that, that will enable us to arrive at a more precise forecast of cap ex needs and cap ex expenditures.

DR. ELSAYED:  So will it also be the right panel to ask follow-up question in terms of, how would the outcome of those initiatives affect this recommendation that was made about dealing with the contingency at the business level?

MR. PENSTONE:  So again, that would be the next panel.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.  These are all my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Dr. Elsayed.  I just have one -- I am a hoping it's a very narrow question, because I don't -- well, I will ask it first and then I will put my caveats around it.

And Mr. Ng, it has been mentioned a couple times over the last few days, the insulator testing that was done on the strength testing, and you mentioned a couple times that you have 12 percent have less than 84 percent of the rated strength.  And I am not questioning your judgment as to whether the 12 or the 84, the merits of that being a driver for your decision.

But it just strikes me that from a material degradation, you've got a lot of materials that you would monitor over time, your towers especially.  You've talked about a certain point in time where degradation starts to occur, when the zinc coating is off.

Did you have anything, before you sent these insulators off for testing, a preconceived cut-off point as to, okay, if it comes back and it's at this percentage of rated strength?

I take it that in the design of this equipment like this, it has a rating which is three times loading or four times loading, those sorts of things they typically have built in for contingency, to use that term.

So when you send it off, do you are -- and not just insulators, but typically your towers, that at a certain percentage of original design strength, that's when it has to come out of service?  Is there any preconceived criteria around equipment degradation?

MR. NG:  Mr. Chair, I am going to speak specifically about insulators.  The significance of 84 percent, we tested a population of 300-plus insulators as a sample from the field.  The significance of the ones that we tested, 12 percent of them have less than 84 percent of rated strength is because we load our insulator up to 85 percent, and sometimes they go beyond that under ice load.

We don't have a preconceived notion or a parameter that's set that says if you test an insulator and it's below a certain strength, pull it out, no.

The bigger factor there really is that when we go take a look at the testing report, we look at the statistical distributions of the sample that we tested.  The sigma, the standard deviation, is big.  It's huge, actually, with this particular set of insulators.  That means that it's widespread.

You can have one unit that's good until 110 percent; you can have one unit that is good for 2 percent, or 20 percent of the strength, and that is the uncertainty.  And the risk that comes with a big spread of standard deviations, that is the concern.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So if you just went along these lines, you'd have 12 percent less than 84, you would have a lesser amount -- 6 percent at less than 50 percent, you would have 2 percent at less than 25 percent.

MR. NG:  Correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is that what I am picturing here?

MR. NG:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  But nothing preconceived.  When you send these off, it's going to be a subjective analysis in your best judgement, when you look at the report when it comes back, as to what to do next.

You're not sending it off, and it's not a binary test that says, okay, if it comes back below this, we know what our next step is.  It's still a -- you are applying judgment, even when you get the report back.  And in this case, it sounds like you were able to come to judgment rather quickly.  But it is still a judgment approach?

MR. NG:  It's an informed engineering decision based on testing data.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, understood.

MR. NG:  It's very informed decision based on the fact that we removed the samples, we've tested them, and I have been dealing with insulators for a long time, this is bad.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess, yes -- and I am not questioning the judgment whatsoever.  All I wanted to know is, from an approach perspective, could you have written what you will accept before you sent these away, and said if it comes back and we have that widespread degradation or the spectrum is wide beyond certain parameters, could you define that in advance?  Or is there any utility in doing that?

MR. NG:  No, there's not.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. NG:   And again with insulators, the key thing is there is a number of units that makes up a string.  It takes one to fail to drop the conductor.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.

MR. NG:  That's the issue there.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Yes, it would be no different if it was the string, or one insulator at every point.

MR. NG:  Correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, understood.  Okay, that's all we have for questions, Mr. Nettleton.  Any redirect?

MR. NETTLETON:  Oh, I think so, Mr. Chairman.  I don't know what your plan is.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, we typically break at 12:30.  If you have fifteen minutes or so, let's wait.

MR. NETTLETON:  Based on the questions that the Panel had, I would appreciate some time.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we break until -- well, remind me, Mr. Nettleton.  The expert coming on compensation this afternoon, his window is from two o'clock?

MR. NETTLETON:  Between two and five.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, let's organization ourselves around that.  So we will have this panel back at 1:30 and your redirect, then we will switch panels.

MR. NETTLETON:  I don't think I will be long, but I do want the opportunity to consult with my client.

MR. QUESNELLE:  But we will be switching to the execution panel and we will do that without a break, just on the fly.  And then we will break at -- then we will have the expert come on at two, and we will have our usual break.

MR. NETTLETON:  If I could make a suggestion on that point?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think it would be beneficial to let the execution panel go as long as they can during this day, while maintaining a slot of time.

I don't believe Mr. Soaré will be required for cross-examination by the intervenors for a three-hour period.  I would be surprised if that's the case.  I think Ms. Lea has indicated that the estimates are 45 minutes for Dr. Higgin; is that correct?

DR. HIGGIN:  No, sir, that's not correct.  For Mr. Soaré alone, as opposed to the Towers Watson, it's 25 minutes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Super.  So we are extending the period even longer for the execution panel, that's great.

So Ms. Lea, do you have any other estimates?

MS. LEA:  Right now, the estimates for Mr. Soaré is about an hour.  But we want to make sure that he does get finished today, so I wouldn't suggest that we start him at anything like 4 o'clock.  I suggest we start him at something like 3.

MR. NETTLETON:  I was hoping that we would have a performance measure on that, but I take your point.

MS. LEA:  Do you have any direct examination for your execution panel or for Mr. Soaré, sir?

MR. NETTLETON:  No.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  And so my suggestion would then be, you know, with the risk that a we will have a shorter day today if Mr. Soaré gets up and down quicker then, to Ms. Lea's point, perhaps we would target to have Mr. Soaré appear at 3 o'clock and then up and down.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we take the advantage of the break, then?  Why don't we have your redirect after lunch.  We will have the execution panel come up and we will go to the break and then have the -- and we will govern that accordingly.

MR. NETTLETON:  Great, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, so we will return at 1:30.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:31 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good afternoon, please be seated.


Okay, Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Preliminary Matters:

Just by way of a preliminary matter, my redirect will probably be in the order of ten, 15 minutes.  Mr. Soaré will not be here before two o'clock --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. NETTLETON:  -- so I am just warning that there may be a pause while we find him and get him up.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So the plan is then to have him right after this panel?


MR. NETTLETON:  I think what I have heard from others in the room is that, given his testimony is relatively brief and short and there may be some risk that execution doesn't finish today, that the preference would be to have Soaré go up first, Mr. Soaré.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And we have got good communication going with him right now?  I mean, like, we are pretty sure he is going to be around at 2:00...


MR. NETTLETON:  The last communication I had with Mr. Soaré was last night, and I asked him to be here at two o'clock.  He is in transit, and I don't know exactly when he will be here, but I think at --


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  People could be --


MR. NETTLETON:  -- after I finish I will -- if we could pause, and I will --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure.


MR. NETTLETON:  -- see if he is in the building.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just didn't want to be off on deck for an unanticipated length of time, that's all.


MR. NETTLETON:  Oh, I think his preference -- his clear preference would be to be up first, so --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, perfect.

Re-Examination by Mr. Nettleton:

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Young, if I could first turn to you, sir, and at page 73 of the Day 5 transcripts, at line 8, you were having a discussion with Mr. Elson regarding the subject matter of National Grid.  Do you recall that?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I do.


MR. NETTLETON:  And, sir, just for the record, do you know whether National Grid is a transmission entity or is a system operator or both?


MR. YOUNG:  They are both.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  Mr. Young, at Day 5, page 82 of the transcript, you were having a discussion with Mr. Elson about system resource solutions like new generation, and I want to take you also to your evidence that's found at Exhibit B1-2-3, page 3, line 7.  If we could have that up on the screen, please.  Page 3.


Now, as I understand your evidence in your application -- and it's this passage, sir, that starts at line 7 and continues down the page to lines 21 to 28 -- you are talking about system planning on a regional basis; do you remember that, or do you recall that discussion?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I do.


MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  And what I want to ask, sir, is, as it relates to system solutions like what you were discussing with Mr. Elson, I want to understand how your role -- that is to say, Hydro One's role -- is, with respect to transmission losses, is reflected in this regional planning process.


MR. YOUNG:  In the regional planning process, as you notice, that's up on the screen, there are four steps:  The needs screening/scoping process, the integrated regional resource plan, and the regional infrastructure plan.


So as the transmission -- as the transmitter we have lead accountability for the needs screening, as well as for the regional infrastructure plan.  The IESO has the lead accountability for the scoping process and the integrated regional resource plan.


Now, with respect to losses -- and I believe during that part of the conversation they were talking about avoided costs and various options with respect to generation and CDM, those would be identified and considered as part of the IESO's led processes, so that would be in the scoping process and more specifically in the integrated regional resource planning part of it.


So as part of that discussion, there would be an integrated look to see what options should be best met by conservation, what options should be best met by generation, and what also should be best met by transmission or distribution.


The options that are identified as generation and conservation or CDM, they would continue to be planned by the IESO.  The options which are deemed to be wires or transmission or distribution, they would be continued to be planned by the transmitter.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Young, if I could turn your attention to the undertaking that you provided.  It's marked as Exhibit J5.1.  If you could bring that up.


Now, in this attachment 1 to your response, can you, just for purpose of identification, can you just explain what you've provided as attachment 1?


MR. YOUNG:  This is an excerpt for a tender specification for the portion for loss evaluations for manufacturers that would be supplying transformers to us.  It provides the details with respect to both the cost of no-load losses, and as well as the full load losses.


Now, these numbers, these dollars -- these energy-loss dollars are expressed on a dollars-per-kilowatt basis.  Effectively, they have been computed from an energy consideration based upon the expected transformer life, the expected loading, the expected loading profile, and a net present value analysis has been done for the life of the transformer to reflect the total losses of the transformers, and these numbers are reflected -- reflect that analysis, and these are provided to the manufacturers, and the manufacturers take these numbers, and they include it as part of their design and bid.


MR. NETTLETON:  So this is part of your -- these are documents that you provide in the procurement of new facilities like transformers?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, this is specifically for the transformers.  It's quite typical of the transformers that we purchase.


MR. NETTLETON:  Now, help me understand how procurement is reflected in this application.  Is it?


MR. YOUNG:  From the perspective of all the transformers that we replace?


MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah.


MR. YOUNG:  It's reflected in that sense.


MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  So if I can take you now to page 45 of Day 5 of the transcript, at lines 16 to 20, you were having a discussion with Mr. Elson about how -- or whether transmission system losses are reflected in this application.  Do you remember that discussion?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I do.


MR. NETTLETON:  All right.  And if we could just bring up -- your answer to Mr. Elson was, no, the transmission system losses are not reflected in this application.


Can you explain or reconcile this obvious conflict?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I can.  In that response my understanding was in the evidence itself was there any explicit reference to losses.  And the answer that I provided was that we don't.  That is still correct.  But that's not to say that there aren't investments in this application which does help to reduce losses.


So all the transformer replacement would be one.  I think I also mentioned in my direct evidence a couple of examples for the Barrie transformer station upgrade, as well as the sector project.


And in fact, any of the projects -- any of the four projects that are in our inter-area network transfer driver, those projects will effectively also reduce losses, because what they do is they just provide an additional path, and when that path is provided, effectively the current flow on the remaining paths are reduced.

And if you recall the equation of losses being the current squared times the resistance, so immediately once those investments are in place, there would be a significant loss reduction as a result of those additional paths.

Now, mind you, the purpose of those paths, though, are for future requirements for increased capacity.  So as the loading increases and uses up that capacity, of course the loss savings will start to diminish over time.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Penstone, you were having a discussion with Mr. Thompson late this morning regarding the insulator program and I think, Mr. Ng, as were you.  And I have a few questions for you, gentlemen.

I want to be clear with the following question: Does Hydro One replace assets with or without known evidence as to the condition of the underlying asset?

MR. PENSTONE:  No.

MR. NETTLETON:  Right.  So if we turn to the insulator program, Mr. Ng, you mentioned that Hydro One commissioned a report by EPRI and it was attached, I believe, as Exhibit I-9-6, attachment 1.  Can you explain, Mr. Ng, what this report says?  What's the purpose of this report?

MR. NG:  The purpose of the report is to assess the condition of CP and COB insulators, the deteriorated conditions.

MR. NETTLETON:  And when did you first obtain information about the conclusions of this report?

MR. NG:  It was around June.

MR. NETTLETON:   Are you aware of any report, Mr. Penstone, like the one that has been prepared by EPRI?  Are you familiar with any report like that that has been prepared by Hydro One, or for Hydro One, respecting the condition of your insulators prior to June 2016?

MR. PENSTONE:  No.

MR. NETTLETON:  And you, sir, are the vice president of planning.  And how long have you been in that position?

MR. PENSTONE:  Since the spring of 2014.

MR. NETTLETON:  And how long have you been with Hydro One, or its prior companies?

MR. PENSTONE:  Since 1979.

MR. NETTLETON:  And in your experience as an employee and in the roles and responsibilities that you have had, are you aware of any, again any information like the EPRI report that you have had knowledge of regarding the condition and the magnitude of the condition of the COB insulators on your system?

MR. PENSTONE:  No.

MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Penstone, Mr. Thompson was asking questions about your ramp-up in your expenditure, your capital expenditure for your insulator replacements.

Can you -- do you have any reason to believe that had you had the EPRI report in prior periods, would that have changed your prior capital expenditure forecast for the insulator replacements?

MR. PENSTONE:  It would have.

MR. NETTLETON:  Can you explain how it would have?

MR. PENSTONE:  Because if we had had this report earlier, we would have had knowledge of the state and condition of our assets and the risks that it posed to both reliability and public health and safety.  We would have been compelled to take action.

MR. NETTLETON:  And what precipitated you to prepare the EPRI report, or ask EPRI to prepare this report?

MR. PENSTONE:  Again, to confirm the scope and magnitude of the situation as the amount of money that would be necessary to remediate the problem is substantial, and we would want to have complete evidence of the need to do so.

MR. NETTLETON:  You have mentioned the Etobicoke incident.  How had that affected your decision to commission EPRI?

MR. PENSTONE:  The Etobicoke incident precipitated investigations into the cause of the failure.  That initial investigation pointed to the failure of an insulator.  At that point, it was incumbent on us to understand was this an isolated event, or was this indicative of a broader issue.

We subsequently initiated actions that provided feedback to answer, or to address that question.

MR. NETTLETON:  What was so significant about the Etobicoke incident that would cause you to take those steps?

MR. PENSTONE:  It was significant in a number of regards.

Firstly, from a reliability perspective, I will start with that, it caused a significant power quality incident that affected Southern Ontario and disrupted our customer's operations.

From an asset perspective, it gave us pause and concern about the condition of those particular assets.

And thirdly, the fact that it failed over a public area created a large concern about the public safety implications of these assets, particularly if they were deteriorated.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Thank you Mr. Chairman, those are my redirect questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you Mr. Nettleton.  So we will be doing a panel swap.  Why don't we take a break and just let us know when we are ready to start again.

Thank you very much to this panel, by the way.  I know it has been a bit of a marathon, thank you.
--- Recess taken at 1:48 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:10 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, please be seated.

Mr. Nettleton.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I am pleased to introduce to you one of Hydro One's independent experts, who has prepared a report that has been filed in this proceeding and marked as Exhibit I-6-57, and the author of this report is Mr. Georges Soaré.

On December 5th, 2016 I wrote a letter to the Board attaching Mr. Soaré's CV evidence.  Mr. Soaré is one of the principals of Hugessen Consulting.  Hugessen Consulting is a consulting enterprise that specializes in executive compensation studies, and Mr. Soaré, again, is one of the principals of that consulting firm and has been with that firm as one of its founding partners since 2006.

Again, Mr. Hugessen is here to speak strictly to the report that was filed as a response to one of the interrogatories in this proceeding, and I think you will recall from the report -- and Mr. Soaré can get into more details regarding the nature of the report, but the report was prepared for the board of directors of Hydro One Limited, and not Hydro One Networks Inc.  It was dealing with the compensation as a request from the board.

So if I could have the oath administered to Mr. Soaré, we can then have him adopt his evidence, and we can move to cross-examination.

MR. THOMPSON:  Good afternoon, Mr. Soaré.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - COMPENSATION PANEL

George Soaré; Affirmed.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Nettleton:

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Soaré, good afternoon.  I just have a few questions for you, and it's in regards to the exhibit that has been filed in this proceeding as I-6-57, which is a report that I believe Hugessen Consulting has prepared; is that correct?

MR. SOARÉ:  Yes, the one entitled "updated discussion notes preliminary CEO/CFO pay benchmarking".  That's the document.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sir, was that document prepared by you or under your direction and control?

MR. SOARÉ:  Yes, it was.

MR. NETTLETON:  And do you have any errors or revisions or corrections to make to that document?

MR. SOARÉ:  I do not.

MR. NETTLETON:  Is it therefore accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. SOARÉ:  Yes, it is.

MR. NETTLETON:  And do you therefore adopt that evidence as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. SOARÉ:  I do, and I may want to just add some detail that with me on the team at the time was two other colleagues, Bo Wang and Camille Jovanovic, and this was prepared as a regular report -- I will expand on that later as what I mean by "regular report" -- in the course of our assignment.  It was not prepared in contemplation of a hearing or litigation.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I am intending to qualify Mr. Soaré as an expert on the matter of executive compensation, and I do have some further questions regarding that qualification.

Mr. Soaré, am I correct that you earned a university degree in the Bachelor of Arts from the University of Toronto in 1987?

MR. SOARÉ:  1983 from U of T, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  And you earned a Master's of Business Administration from the Schulich School of Business and a law degree from Osgoode Hall law school in 1987?

MR. SOARÉ:  Correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  You have your ICDD designation from the Institute of Corporate Directors; correct?

MR. SOARÉ:  Correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  And you are a founding member of the Hugessen Consulting firm; is that correct?

MR. SOARÉ:  Yes, in 2006, along with Ken Hugessen.

MR. NETTLETON:  And you have had approximately two decades of prior experience in the area of executive compensation and related matters?

MR. SOARÉ:  I can just clarify.  The two decades of experience before Hugessen was generally in financial services, which included private equity, investment banking, corporate development, and law.  So that's the 20 years prior to '06.  And I have been in this field for -- I am now in my eleventh year.

MR. NETTLETON:  And sir, can you describe in your 11 years the experience and type of work that you have been involved with?

MR. SOARÉ:  So our firm does only one thing, which is advise on executive pay on the related pay for performance frameworks and also governance of how pay is decided, and our firm would do, just to give you a sense of dimension, about 150 client assignments a year, and that would cover from the very, very large companies that are publicly traded right through to smaller private enterprises, and in between we would do some Crowns -- commercial Crowns.  It would include also pension plans.  So quite a wide range of type of clients, both publicly traded, private, and Crown.

As well, just to be clear, our firm has chosen to do work where the client is always the board of directors.  That's a self-imposed constraint, but just to be very clear, to put it in plain English, we do not take on assignments where the client is management and the role -- the reasoning for that is simply that we thought that as a firm it's the board of directors that requires the independent expert advice, and that's how we have been set up.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, subject to any comments of other parties, I would ask the Board accept Mr. Soaré as an expert in the area of executive compensation.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Any submissions on that point from the intervenors?  No?

That will be fine, Mr. Nettleton.  We will accept him on that basis.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I will ask Mr. Soaré to just introduce his report and just provide a background to it, again, because it was filed as a response to an interrogatory and it's the only form of direct that I am going to ask Mr. Soaré this afternoon.

So Mr. Soaré, could you just provide an introduction if you will to your report, and when it was prepared, who it was prepared for, and for what purpose?

MR. SOARÉ:  Our report was prepared for the new -- at the time new chair of the board at Hydro One, Mr. David Denison.  He had contacted me asking our firm to help him in his capacity as chair of the board of Hydro One with various matters that would follow as he and what would be the new board were getting ready for the potential at the time, potential IPO of Hydro One.

And once we got together and he gave me an orientation of what the mandate was, he asked for some help in how one should approach executive pay, and there were other topics that he asked for help on, but in relation to this report that was one of the requests, and so me and my colleagues ended up doing work back in the early months of 2015, which culminated at that point in this report on executive pay.  And so he was the recipient of that report.

And Mr. Alan Hibbin -- and I am not exactly sure his exact title at the time, but he was also being of assistance to various parties at the time in the pre-IPO stage, and he was also in some of those meetings in early days.

I say this was early days because it was well before the IPO actually happened, and I have remained as the lead advisor to the board, and specifically the -- as the board came together, the new board, new board of directors, Mr. Ian Bourne became the chair of the comp committee of that board of directors, and so today Ian Bourne is my client for the day-to-day business that I serve -- you know, as to how I serve the comp committee of Hydro One.


MR. NETTLETON:  With respect to this report, Mr. Soaré, can you just provide a little colour on the task of the benchmarking, as that term is used in the title?

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, as is typical in an assignment such as this, we canvas with the client, again in this case it's David Denison as chair of the board, the nature of what the enterprise is all about, the outlook for the enterprise, some of the key drivers that will affect talent, and we canvas also the implications of that, which always results in an understanding or development of a compensation philosophy for executives.


And so as part of this assignment, we had those discussions and it led to, again all in the normal course, some ideas on how to benchmark, what market context would be relevant to establish the pricing of what you would be willing or should be willing to pay for different levels in the organization, including in this report, the CEO role and CFO role.

And so the guts of this report is the framework that helps go from business plan, to talent, to compensation philosophy, and ultimately to peer groups to help benchmark what would be the right background information to have when trying to decide as a board where to land on the target direct compensation for these two roles.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Soaré.  Mr. Chairman, this witness is available for cross-examination.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Dr. Higgin, I believe you are up first.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good afternoon, Mr. Soaré.

MR. SOARÉ:  Good afternoon.

DR. HIGGIN:  Before I start, I have a couple of preliminary matters.  One is to file our compendium, which will be used -- just for the information of the members, the board, that it will be used both for this witness, for the Towers Watson witness, and for the finance panel as it relates to issue 16, which is compensation.  So for the finance, so it's compiled to be used for all three of those.

So that's the first matter, could I get an exhibit, please?


MS. LEA:  K8.3 for the compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.3:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR THE COMPENSATION PANEL


MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Lea, I was remiss.  I mentioned my letter dated December 5th, which attached the CVs of both Mr. Soaré, but also Mr. Resch from Willis Towers Watson. Could that be marked as an exhibit, too?


MS. LEA:  Certainly.  Would it be acceptable, Mr. Nettleton, if we finish with Dr. Higgin's second exhibit, and then we'll make yours Exhibit K8.5.


Dr. Higgin, you have another item, is that correct?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I do.  This was sent by e-mail to Hydro.  This is prepared by us, Energy Probe, and it's a intended to provide a bit of a road map to the various peer groups that have been used in various compensation studies.  That's the purpose of it, and so this is just ours and it's meant as an aid, should I say, to the examination of the three groups that are dealing with this issue.


MS. LEA:  So that's a single sheet?


DR. HIGGIN:  That's a single sheet.


MS. LEA:  One moment, please.  And that is going to be -- the single-sheet exhibit is going to be K8.4.  And then --


DR. HIGGIN:  Can I just complete that to say that it's also in the first page in the compendium as well.  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And you are filing it separately because it is something you have produced, is that correct?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  I understand.  So it's not already on the record.


DR. HIGGIN:  No.


MS. LEA:  All right, we will mark it as a separate exhibit in any event.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.4:  EMAIL SENT FROM ENERGY PROBE TO HYDRO ONE AS AID TO EXAMINATION


And now Mr. Nettleton, I am sorry, the letter and CV, then, K8.5 for Mr. Soaré.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  And that just to be clear, it's Mr. Soaré and Mr. Resch.


MS. LEA:  And Mr. Resch, thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.5:  CVS OF WITNESSES GEORGE SOARÉ AND RYAN RESCH

Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  I'd like to just start by a bit of an introduction as to why this topic is, we think, relevant, and that is that the expert compensation reports of Hugessen and Towers Watson and the recommendations in those were inputs to the Hydro board that resulted in the proposed senior executive compensation proposed in this application for the test years.  That's the purpose of why we are addressing this issue.

So perhaps as an extension of your, Mr. Soaré, of your introduction to the report, the question -- I just had a couple of questions to follow-up.


Your report is focussed.  You used the words "CFO", "CEO."  Is that what Hydro One calls bands 1 and 2 of their compensation?  Are you aware of that?

MR. SOARÉ:  You would think I would remember that, wouldn't you?  It's a pretty simple question.  I am pretty sure that band 1 is CEO and band 2 is -- but you see I don't tend to think about them in bands, so I am afraid -- it sounds logical, but I am afraid that's not the way I usually see the information and an I just don't recall for a hundred percent sure.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you anyway.  Could we just look at the compendium that we've provided.  And I just wanted to give you a little bit of context here that might be helpful as to why we are inquiring about peer groups, okay.  So that would be page 4 of the compendium.  And I will just point you to a couple of things that perhaps we might want to point to.


I asked one of Hydro's future witnesses, actually Mr. McDonell, and they referred to you and they say, "We would be relying," I assume the corporation, "on that advice to assist us in developing the peer group.  There were probably some conversations, but..." and then he goes on to say that in essence, it's your peer group.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I am not sure that this witness has had the benefit of reading the transcript of the technical conference.

I don't think anything rides on it, but I appreciate Dr. Higgin's context for everyone else that were involved in the technical conference and the context in which the peer group has come up in the proceeding.  But I don't think Mr. Soaré has had the benefit of the review of the technical conference.


DR. HIGGIN:  Mr. Chairman, I am fine with that.  I just wanted to make the link that "we", Hydro One as it was stated here, were relying on your expertise Mr. Soaré.


MR. SOARÉ:  Yes, I can confirm.  It is not at all at issue that it was very clear that Mr. Denson, as chair of the board, was engaging our firm, and I was leading the project, to help him.

Initially, it was just him, because the new board was not in place back in April of '15.  But in the ensuing months, the new board did come together.  So my role was to help the board of directors of Hydro One on executive compensation matters.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  If you note in here, and we will come to this question, we notice that -- there is a mention by me as to the Willis Towers Watson peer group.

As you may recollect, because it's on page 8 of your own report, that peer group was used by Hydro One ostensibly for the IPO.  So do you recollect that that is the case?

MR. SOARÉ:  No, that is not my recollection.  At the appropriate time I can give you the full scenario of how these different groups came to be on page 8 of our report, but just to be clear, none of the boxes on this page I would call a Towers Watson group.  We can get into -- I am happy to talk about other lists that are Towers Watson peer groups when you wish, but they are not on this page.

DR. HIGGIN:  So the IPO group then, which we can have a discussion about whether how Towers Watson used that, you are familiar with that peer group, the IPO peer group, that's on page 8 in the red box?

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, umm, so, again, if I may.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, you may.

MR. SOARÉ:  Just because I think the story line and what was developed when and for what purpose might be helpful.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that would be very useful.

MR. SOARÉ:  Should I do that?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, please.

MR. SOARÉ:  So at the time of April 2015, there was no new CEO, there was no new CFO.  There was only Mr. Denison as chair of the board, and he did not -- he had not yet recruited any new board members.  He was starting to -- he had many parallel tracks, I am sure, but the governance was one of the important tracks that he was talking to me about, anyway, and in that governance box he wanted our help on executive pay.  And his first priority was going to be for the first two hires, and we understood those to be, first, a chief executive officer and then eventually a chief financial officer.

So from that -- at that time, in the spring of 2015, he was soliciting our help with, Hydro One that's going to look like the following, X, Y, Z, as a publicly traded company, Hugessen, can you please help us with how to think through a sound framework?


So after that request we, Hugessen, set to work and started to do the analysis that we typically do, which -- and I will get to the peer group in a moment, but I do want to -- it might be helpful to first talk about, how do you get to these peer groups.  And if I may, I can explain that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that's fine.  I think it would be helpful context.  We have got a road map as you see showing --


MR. SOARÉ:  Right.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- different peer groups and so on that have been used by Hydro One --


MR. SOARÉ:  I think that will help with -- I think that will help with the road map.

So the first thing we did with David Denison was to -- he explained to us -- and this was simply in a meeting in a boardroom.  It was him and Alan Hibbin, myself, and my colleagues, and he took that opportunity to explain to us some of the ideas, some of the paths forward that he could foresee for Hydro One as a publicly traded company, and he talked about how, you know, the company will be publicly traded and its key mission will be to continue to run the business that it's running and to be efficient and to have all the different operating priorities that it currently has, and that first and foremost its objective was to continue to run as a very large utility in Ontario, and as a publicly traded company in terms of talent, he and the board would be looking to make sure that they had the right talent to lead the organization.

And so for our benefit he explained that, for example, CEO role, he and the board would be looking for people with significant prior experience running very large enterprises, might be or might not be from the energy sector, that that person and persons should have experience running large, publicly traded companies and would be an appropriate person to handle the complexities that Hydro One would represent as a publicly traded company.

I tell that story because it's important inputs for, not just in Hydro One's case, but whenever you -- whenever we as experts help a board think through what should the compensation philosophy be, we need to understand, where is the enterprise going, what does success look like, what kind of talent do you need.  And from that, we can help them build a compensation philosophy.

So that is what we did on page -- let me just turn to -- some of these were identified at page 4 of my report, and the compensation philosophy follows at page 5.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I have read all of those aspects of the report.  For the purpose of trying to get through this examination I had to condense to the main chart that was there.

MR. SOARÉ:  Exactly.  So one of the difficulties in creating a compensation philosophy with precision with any company -- and it's true for Hydro One -- is you have to look at, well, typically you have to look at, okay, what kind of company are we -- what industry are we in, who -- you eventually get to, well, what kind of peers do we think for talent, and here the challenges begin, because the number of direct, very close comparables to Hydro One, it was very clear, was almost zero, in terms of direct comparable.

So I will give you in contrast, CN and CP are two railways.  They are very comparable -- you name the statistic, they are very comparable, and they are often seen in the same peer group, and there are differences, but they are comparable.

Hydro One, there aren't very many -- there aren't any companies in Canada, really, that are exactly -- that are that close to Hydro One.  What I mean by that, if you look at the size of the asset base, the fact that it's transmission, distribution in Ontario only, is very different -- it's not the same, if you will, as Fortis.  It's in the same bucket, but it's not exactly the same, and it's not exactly the same as Emera, because of geographies, because of, you know, some generate power, some don't, et cetera.

So you are right away into an exercise of judgment of, well, which energy-related peers can you start to use.  And so that's how we came up with the first box, getting now to page 8.  Page 8 in the blue box on the left, there's a primary group that we call TSX large utilities, and (b) is TSX pipeline and storage companies.  There is a total of four companies, and we talk about those at page -- they are described at page 10, but that became the closer peer group, but that was the beginning only, it wasn't the end.

And if appropriate I'm going to tell you about the other boxes on this page.

DR. HIGGIN:  Sure, I am particularly interested in the Hydro One IPO box, but I have some other questions.

MR. SOARÉ:  Okay.  Let me clarify that, if I may.  The red box is simply a statement saying Hydro One, when it achieves its IPO, would be approximately a $15 billion market cap company.  That's why the 15 billion is mentioned there.  And it would rank about 34th, it was our guesstimate, on the TSX 60, in terms of market caps, and it was simply a reminder to say when looking at the size of Hydro One where does it fit just from an illustrative point of view, that's all.  There is no -- there is nothing behind that red box.  It is just commenting that it's a $15 billion company, that's all.

DR. HIGGIN:  So it doesn't correspond in your case as a peer group, potentially.

MR. SOARÉ:  I am just clarifying that the red box does not represent a peer group.  It's simply a mark on the page indicating in red that Hydro One will be a $15 billion market cap company.  That's all it represents.

DR. HIGGIN:  However, Towers Watson used that peer group -- a peer group based on that, eight companies, in their report.  Do you remember that, or do you not know that?

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, the order of things is actually we, Hugessen, we, Hugessen, put forward this group of eight.  We also put forward for consideration that the fact that you should at least think about the TSX 60 as a broad group of companies and in particular the lower half, so the bottom 30.  Why?  Because the thinking back to talent was that -- and remember the context here is before the candidates actually sitting in the seats today were on the horizon.  David Denison and the board didn't know at that point who would be these people, but they are trying to think well where might they come from.

So we thought it was logical for pay purposes to look at, well, what do the bottom 30 of the TSX 60 companies, what do they pay their CEOs and CFOs.  Why?  Because Hydro One, as a public company, is going to find itself in the bottom 30 of the TSX 60.

So that was the rationale as to why we at least considered that data, and we crunched some numbers which appear in the chart.

We also looked at, if our eyes go south, we looked at government-owned utilities, and they are also identified.  And we looked at those for context as well because they exist.  Some of them are quite large, some are quite small, but these are all government owned.  And they're context because they are not publicly traded.  And so, they are quite different than Hydro One was going to be as a publicly traded company.

But at least we thought, well, we'd better note them because it's interesting context.

Similarly, we also looked at US utilities.  Why did we do that?  Well, remember at the time, the new board was in the process of thinking through who the executives would be and I think it's -- if I recall, the incumbents in theory were still in the running for those jobs.  But they were -- the board was casting a wide net in terms of a search, and they hired an expert search firm to do those global searches.

But they were going to look in Canada.  I know that they did look in the US at the time, and so it's interesting -- again, if you are sitting on the board of a company and you want to know, well, how expensive is that talent, if I am going to go look in the US, how expensive is it, that's part of the reason we considered the US utilities and we looked at -- if you look at the bottom, we looked at utilities that had an enterprise value, which is the sum of equity value and net debt, that was comparable to Hydro One.

We said, all right, well, what do the second in command roles get paid there?  Why?  Well, because maybe those are the kind of people that you could attract to Canada to run Hydro One.  That's why we looked at the top operating role, and then we also looked at the CEO roles at that same companies to get a context.  Well, American CEOs for a similar sized businesses an Hydro One, what do they get paid?  And that's that top grey box on the right.

So I am giving you the headlines as to how did
these -- why did we look at these different references groups.  And having looked at all of those reference groups, it was our judgment -- and David Denison and ultimately the board agreed -- that we could look primarily to the group of eight as the closer companies to look at, and look at some of these other boxes as reference.

So if you go then to the prospectus that was used when the shares were sold to the public and you look at the description, that's exactly what's described is the story I just -- well, they don't get into all the US stuff because that ended up being not that germane nor did the government-owned utilities.  But the context around this group of eight plus the bottom 30 of the TSX 60 was germane.

And that is what was most relevant when determining the context for setting the pay of the CEO and the CFO.

Now, Towers Watson.  By the time the fall of '15 came around, a lot of progress had been made by the board.  And by this time, the board is actually coming together -- the new board of directors is coming together.  So Ian Bourne is now part of the dialogue, and the attention to other topics started to evolve.  And so what would be the peer group for all the top officers, all the top management at the company was another topic.

Now this is where Judy McKellar, who is the senior VP of people, was working with Towers Watson in the background.  To be clear, Towers Watson works for Hydro One management.  They don't work for the board, the board of directors.

So, anyway, we started to have dialogues at the time about, okay, well -- how are they going to approach the pay philosophy beyond CEO and CFO?  What about the other managers?

DR. HIGGIN:  Excuse me right there, please.  One Clarification.  Towers Watson did look at the CFO and CEO in their report; it's actually in their report.  They did benchmark those positions in their report.  Do you know that?

MR. SOARÉ:  So we should turn to -- over the course of time, there were different Towers Watson reports, just like in fact we issued different reports.  I just want to make sure I am referring to the right report.

DR. HIGGIN:  We are dealing with the one that is in evidence here as I-06-57, attachment 2, which is the Towers Watson report.  It addressed bands, my term, 1 to 4, that included the CEO, CFO, and bands 3 and 4.  And they have recommendations based on their own peer group.

If you look at the road map we have prepared, their peer groups are listed on that road map, on my exhibit.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Dr. Higgin, it's a little late for me to be asking this question, but are you disadvantaged by having this panel split, these two experts not being here together?

DR. HIGGIN:  Absolutely, sir, absolutely, one hundred percent, because basically I was going to ask the same questions about the same thing, and I was totally disadvantaged to have to redo all my cross, I had to -- yes, the answer is yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I thought I had asked that question the other day.  Anyway, we will do what we can, but we can't be asking --


DR. HIGGIN:  I was going to suggest that the witness not talk about Towers Watson; we can do that when they are here.  If he wishes to explain, from a historical point of view, the connection.  They were working for management as he said, not the board, and things like that -- I have no problem if he wants to give context.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, my observation is the questions that Dr. Higgin has about the Towers Watson reports, about the content and about how it was formulated and the like, are best saved for --


DR. HIGGIN:  I agree.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- for Mr. Resch.  If Dr. Higgin is seeking to ask this witness about the peer groups that Towers Watson has used and note or make the observation about differences between the two, I think this witness can only be expected to address the peer group that he has used.

I don't know if he would have any knowledge about the peer group that Towers Watson has used, and vice versa.  And I don't think that matters whether they are on the same panel or not.  It's just a function of what information did each of the authors use for purposes of preparing their reports.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I think that's probably right, Mr. Nettleton.  But, Mr. Soaré, if you have anything you want to provide as far as the nexus between the work that you did and what Towers Watson did -- and if there's none, that's fine, too.

But to the extent they are in the here at the same time, Mr. Nettleton, if there is a nexus of their work, then we would like to hear from both at the independent times.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think that's only fair.

MR. SOARÉ:  I can easily -- I think in my mind, it's quite clear how they came together.  I can explain and then --


MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be good context to set, I think.

MR. SOARÉ:  Sure.  And then I agree that more detailed questions about their report -- Dr. Higgin, you know you can at the right time ask.

So the timeline is important to explaining why was there a Hugessen peer group, and then later on why was there a larger -- another peer group with more companies in it that Towers put forward, and the explanation is relatively simple.

We were comfortable -- we, being Hugessen, were comfortable, as was David Denison, in the months from April '15 through to the fall of '15 with the work that we had done, which you see reflected in our report of April 2015.  We did not feel it was necessary to create yet another peer group to serve the purpose of setting the context for CEO and CFO pay.  We had enough.

Now, now I am switching hats.  When management -- this is now Judy McKellar -- wearing her hat, now she has to worry about, oh, what's -- how do I think through the peer group for more than just two roles?  I have got to think through the peer group for other managers.  She worked with Towers Watson.  They came up with a longer list of peers.

And so I think -- I am happy to look at -- I have a copy of one of their reports, and I am happy to clarify if we are talking the same thing.  But in October of '15, at least at that time -- let me just see if I can find it -- Towers had a report, and at page 9 of their report -- Dr. Higgin, maybe -- I want to make sure we are talking of the same document.  They had --


DR. HIGGIN:  Well, can I help the witness?  We do have the one that's on file here in my compendium, at page 9 of the compendium, and we have a couple of extracts from the report that's been filed here.

MR. SOARÉ:  Yes, it's looking familiar.

DR. HIGGIN:  And that is -- you see those two extracts, which are actually pages 2 and 5 of that report that was filed here.

MR. SOARÉ:  Okay.  Okay.  So page 5 is the hanging bar chart.  Yes, I think we are talking the same report.  I am just checking page 2.  It looks -- yes.  So we are talking the same Towers report.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. SOARÉ:  So by the time fall of '15 rolls around, Towers Watson, working with Judy McKellar, come up with a longer list of companies -- we would have to count how many are here.

DR. HIGGIN:  They are on my little chart here, if you look at --


MR. SOARÉ:  Twenty-one, I think, companies in total?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, it's a very large group.

MR. SOARÉ:  Twenty-one companies.

DR. HIGGIN:  Executive peer group, it's called on this chart that I --


MR. SOARÉ:  Right.  And so --


DR. HIGGIN:  -- the road map --


MR. SOARÉ:  -- of the 21, eight include what I will call the eight from Hugessen plus 13 for a total of 21.

DR. HIGGIN:  Um-hmm, correct.

MR. SOARÉ:  So I am soon coming to the end of my story.  But Towers Watson I think will tell you that they needed a larger number of companies in the peer group so that when they do their pay benchmarking exercise for, I think it was at least 20 roles -- I forget the exact number of roles --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. SOARÉ:  They needed a richer, if you will, data set so that they can get data integrity.  So they went through all their different screens and came up with this group of 21, which you will see includes some utilities, some energy, and then a bunch of other companies from different industries, but all capital intensive, et cetera.  Again, I will let them explain what they did.

So the point is, the Hugessen, what I will call primary peer group, was used in the spring of '15 and, in fact, has not been changed.  Again, if you look at the information circular that the company published in the spring of '16, they reference the group of eight companies as the prime context, and they mention the broader context of the TSX 60 bottom 30 when referring to CEO and CFO pay.  They don't yet mention publicly the Towers Watson group, which I -- it's easy to refer to the Towers Watson group, because it was not relevant in '15.  It becomes relevant in '16.

And so if you look at the circular that Hydro One will publish in the spring of '17, there will be public disclosure of this group and how it was used to help benchmark the other roles other than CEO and CFO.  That was my punch line, that this will be used as context for the other top officers, so the number 3, 4, 5, roles after CEO and CFO, will consider at least this kind of information.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you for the context.  That will reduce my questions to Towers Watson when they come.

MR. SOARÉ:  Please check, but I think you will hear the same thing.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Just a couple of contextual questions then.

You said in your introduction and in your report that one of the major drivers on assumptions was that Hydro One would become a fully publicly traded investor-owned utility; is that my take on it, or you can use your words.  Is that the driver?

MR. SOARÉ:  Yes, as a -- initially the government would be selling something -- I didn't know at the time, but in between 10 and 15 percent of its interest, but it was understood that they would continue to sell off into the public markets at the right time when they chose more, but it would essentially become a still government -- the government would still have an economic interest for quite a few years, but they would keep selling down from what was 100 percent.

And so -- and, importantly, that the government had entered into some kind of governance contract or governance arrangement where essentially -- and I never read the document, but it was essentially the government said we will behave as an investor, and we will leave the board alone to do its job.  That's my interpretation.  But there was a very clear -- so from those two things, A), publicly traded shares, and independent of the government, yes, it was -- we assumed it is just like Fortis or Emera or TransAlta, it's a publicly traded enterprise.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that was the context in which you prepared your report.

MR. SOARÉ:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  So could you just confirm with me, looking at page 11 of the compendium, what the current status is for the -- this is a recent status.  You have outlined a few of these points, but in essence, if we were to look at this and so on, you will see that, as you have said, of the capitalization to date, 15 billion, and the public float of 4.5 billion is where it's at at the moment as of two-16 August; correct?

MR. SOARÉ:  Yeah, I don't know who put this together, but this looks about right.  My understanding is the government owns, still, about 70 percent, approximately.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, Hydro One put this together, if you look at the logo, so it's their data.

MR. SOARÉ:  Yup.  Right.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So the other question then, that comes to my number, just accept it subject to check, that it's about -- still about 70 percent government-owned, at this moment as we sit here at the end of two-16 going into two-17, as you've said, the plans are to issue more shares over time and so on, but right now it's about 70 percent government-owned.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. SOARÉ:  Yes, that's my understanding.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So the question I think that would come from this would be, looking at page 17, we want to look where you ended up with your recommendations of your report, and I am going to look at the compendium.  I will give people a reference to the compendium.  And that would be at page 7 and then 8 of the compendium.  These are two charts that were extracted and copied from your report.  I think in your report, it's rather difficult to see the page on this copy but it is page 17 and page 18 of your report.


MR. SOARÉ:  Those are the right pages, yes, thank you.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So just first of all, can we briefly say what do you mean by the straw model CEO total compensation.  I have one little clarification, is it total compensation or TDC that you are talking about, direct compensation?  So just outline what you mean by the straw model.


MR. SOARÉ:  Sure, of course. Just dealing with acronyms, total direct compensation, TDC, is the short form for the sum of salary, target, STIP otherwise known as annual bonus, and target LTIP, long-term incentive.  So the sum of those three components is TDC, total direct comp.  So we often refer to target total direct comp in this setting because a board, again, is in this case is trying to determine what would be the target numbers that would be set each year for a CEO, and so that's the way we refer to it.

And the same thing we would look at the data in the back.  We similarly do an apples-to-apples, TDC.


You may ask, well, what is not being included --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Pensions?

MR. SOARÉ:  Correct.  So on top of TDC, companies will offer to a varying degree other benefits.  It could be pension of different -- all kinds of different pension benefits.  It could include perquisites. And so there's another little -- I say little, because for most of these roles, that component tends to be smaller.

So when you count that -- I will call it "other".  So TDC plus other equals total compensation; so that's the terminology part.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.


MR. SOARÉ:  So our charts at page 17 and 18 of our report is dealing with TDC, total direct comp.  We address pension as a separate item later, which I am happy to come back to.


DR. HIGGIN:  No that's another panel, I think, that deals with pension in this proceeding.


MR. SOARÉ:  So you're asking questions about?


DR. HIGGIN:  What did you mean by the straw man model and then I would like to talk about an each of the main -- the three components of TDC following that.  That's going to be my next question.  But perhaps just start by saying what did you mean by the straw man model, how did you develop it, et cetera.


MR. SOARÉ:  So the exercise in coming up with these illustrations was actually very similar in process to we often find ourselves in situations where we are dealing with the board, and the board is trying to get a handle on a comp philosophy, the implications of a peer group.  They are trying to get their head around, well, what does that mean specifically for what would be reasonable compensation to think about for a given role.


So we put these little tables together to give David Denison some concrete boundaries, if you will, that we thought were reasonable in the context of everything we have talked about so far, meaning the business is going in this direction, there is a comp philosophy, there is peer groups, but there is no strict rule on how the use the peer group.


And so -- and I will walk you through some of the math in a moment -- for each of these two roles, we came up with three scenarios that were rational.  It doesn't mean that you couldn't go above or below them.  But we thought these were an interesting range.  And we highlighted the one in the middle because we thought that was -- those were obviously -- we thought, they were reasonable numbers.

As it turns out that, is what they settled on with these executives.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MR. SOARÉ:  Months later, by the way.  But they ended upcoming back to these numbers.

So that's what we mean by straw model, it's meant -- none of these when we say -- see it doesn't say Hugessen recommends dollar X.  We were not asked for our recommendation specifically; we didn't need to volunteer it.  But the nature of the conversation, again which is quite customary, is we are talking with the chair of the board, he wants to understand what's the relevant context in our opinion and we are saying, well, in light of the peer group, in light of what you want to do here for the kind of talent you are looking for, this is how.


Now, one of the important attributes to how we got to these numbers is even within -- even within the peer group, the primary peer group of eight, we spent more time, more attention, if you will, on those that are a little closer in shape and size to Hydro One.  So that's why there was a hanging bar chart --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I have read it.


MR. SOARÉ:  -- on page 12 of our report.  I think it might be helpful to look at that page 12.

So just to orient everybody, on the left side of this chart in the first column is that primary group, it's eight companies.  Where the two blues touch, it's P50.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. SOARÉ:  And that looks like about 3.4 million, if you just follow the vertical axis.  The top of the blue is the P75, the bottom of the light blue is the P25; that's just how to interpret this hanging bar chart.


The two columns to the right are the TSX diagram.  So the one to the left is the bottom 30, and the hanging bar chart immediately to the right is the full 60 and so on.  So that's just how to read this chart.


So going back to that first column on the left entitled "primary peer group", you can see that all the data is captured in the picture, but we looked at Fortis, TransAlta and Emera as the businesses that are closer among the eight to Hydro One, and even though Hydro One is at or near the biggest of them all, we thought it was important to look at those specific data points being the closer peers.

That explains some of the judgment around how the straw models were put together.


DR. HIGGIN:  Just to confirm, in the mid-case, which as you said was subsequently adopted, it was P75, was the level for the mid-case, correct?

MR. SOARÉ:  It ended up being statistically close to P75 of that group of eight.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MR. SOARÉ:  You can see literally -- it just so happens that that red diamond is sitting almost on the line.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right there on the line, yes.


MR. SOARÉ:  But that does not -- you would not want to draw a dot, dot, dot and say, we are trying to position ourselves at P75 of a peer group as a philosophy.  That was not the philosophy that was in mind at the time.


DR. HIGGIN:  So it was an outcome rather than saying we want to be at 75?  It was an outcome in your mind.


MR. SOARÉ:  It was an outcome because the triangulation exercise -- and I think we are kind of getting now to the judgment that came to bear is that we have Hydro One that is tough to come up with a direct peer but we have three utilities that are kind of closer, and they pay their CEOs between 3.5 and 5 million.  We have the TSX 60 that pay quite a bit more than that for CEOs.  And therein lies the challenge that David Denison had, and ultimately the board, as to what is reasonable in that fact set.

And we understood that that was the challenge -- that was our challenge, too. and that's how we came up with these models.


DR. HIGGIN:  Clarifying question about the four utilities, how many of them are regulated?

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, they have regulated activities.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I know we are talking about corporate level.  But I don't know, do you know how much of their total corporate, I will call it assets, all of those things, they have segments of their business which are regulated, same as Hydro One --


MR. SOARÉ:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- has segments of its business which are regulated.

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, a significant part of -- I know of Fortis and Emera, I happen to know those a bit clearer -- I know that it's north of 80 percent in different geographies.  I forget if it's north of 90 percent, but it's very significant --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yeah, I know Emera has Nova Scotia Power, for example.

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, it now owns TECO in Florida, et cetera.  Fortis owns a lot of assets in the US, but --


DR. HIGGIN:  And in Ontario.

MR. SOARÉ:  Yes, so -- but the different levels, I am afraid I can't quote you the exact numbers.

DR. HIGGIN:  No.  But that's one thing perhaps we will address -- maybe I will ask the other panel.

What I would like to do, because we are running hard on time here --


MR. SOARÉ:  There was, by the way -- I am sorry, Dr. Higgin --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. SOARÉ:  -- we did provide a -- page 37 of our report, an estimate of the percent of revenue at the
time --


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. SOARÉ:  -- of what we thought was regulated.  So that was our best estimate at the time, you will see there.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's very helpful to know that.

So looking at the four that are in the main group, they are somewhat partially regulated to some extent, right, Fortis -- yes, thank you, that's helpful.

Perhaps we can try to now just ask one question on this structure here.  How much of the compensation, looking at the mid-case and looking at the CFO on page 17, you have what I think is perhaps the largest piece of the compensation here is LTIP, long-term incentive, which you have benchmarked somehow, and I will ask in a minute how, to 281 percent, and that's of base salary; correct?

MR. SOARÉ:  Yeah, our page 17, that's right, so --


DR. HIGGIN:  So the question is, how did you get the 281 percent of base salary, that number?  Because I, in my feeble efforts to look through your report, I didn't come up with that.

MR. SOARÉ:  So the mix between fixed compensation and variable is one of the key variables that any company has to figure out for the role.  And so in this case here, there was both -- market context was taken into account.

So if you look at page 28 of our report, you can see the more detailed analysis.

DR. HIGGIN:  Could we pull that up, please.  Yes.

MR. SOARÉ:  So here you can see for these eight companies, and for each of the CEOs, our summary of the statistics that show how each of these people were paid.

So just dealing with Stan Marshall -- you don't see his name, but he was the CEO of Fortis at the time -- his salary at the time was 1.2 million.  He had at the time -- I am going from left to right -- he had a target STIP opportunity annually of 85 percent of his salary.

When you add those two up it gives you the total cash, another acronym, total cash comp, TCC, of 2.22 million.  And then the board granted him, we calculated, close to 2.9 million of LTIP, which ended up being close to 240 percent of his then salary, for a total of 5.1 million.

And so if you look at the statistics for this group of eight you can then look at the bottom pro forma, and the concept was simply to have a mix where a reasonably high proportion of the pay was variable.

And so if you put the fixed part at 850, with target STIP of 90, then out pops the answer 280, to get you to the 4 million.  And it was viewed as -- that mix of salary and cash comp plus the equity was viewed as a reasonable mix with a slight -- a slight orientation towards the longer-term with a slightly higher LTIP.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, thank you.

So there is three components here.  There is the base salary, and there is the STIP.  How is the STP (sic) generated and the awards to the CEO -- in this case the CEO?  In other words, what determines that number?  Is it a percentage of base salary, for example, or how is it determined?  Is it the same as base salary, for example?

MR. SOARÉ:  No.  So just to clarify -- now we are switching topics, we are going from quantum of target pay, now we are going to the topic, well, how do people get to earn either the STIP on the one hand, and presumably how do people get to earn the LTIP.  You haven't asked about that, but happy to clarify.

DR. HIGGIN:  No, I think basically this is helpful.  I'll just ask you a simple average question on LTIP.  I know it's a function of the others, but the average of the peer group, if you were to do the math, you would not end up with 281 percent on LTIP.  Correct?  Because it's a combination.

MR. SOARÉ:  Right.  So the way we align the statistics is we give you, for example, the STIP.  The median STIP award, target award, we show is 88 percent.  That's the median.  It's the median of those percentages shown above.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. SOARÉ:  If you go a few columns over, the median LTIP award on a percentage basis is 220.  But one cannot add medians across.

DR. HIGGIN:  No.

MR. SOARÉ:  So therefore, you always have to look to absolute dollars, and that's how the 280 made sense.  If you start with the salary of 850 and an STIP of 90 percent target, then the LTIP target would be 280, and therefore it all adds up to 4 million target.

So your earlier question, if I may, around, well, how does the STIP get paid -- is that -- did I hear your question correctly?

DR. HIGGIN:  No, I was actually going to have a follow-up question about the linkage between STIP and performance and scorecards.

MR. SOARÉ:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  That is where I was going to go if that was -- and so --


MR. SOARÉ:  Okay.  Happy to go there whenever you want.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So I wonder if you could turn to the compendium and go to the very last page of the compendium, which is page 20.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Something we should probably have a clear understanding of, Dr. Higgin, is we do have an undertaking that is going to -- I believe Mr. Vels is going to provide some descriptors of incentives packages or the descriptions of the drivers for the compensation, and I am not sure how much detail will be in there, Mr. Nettleton, and I am just wondering -- we don't have that -- that response isn't on file yet.

MR. NETTLETON:  No, sir, it is not.

DR. HIGGIN:  I am just trying to explore with this expert that linkage between the LTIP and performance.  That's the objective here.  That's okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood, Dr. Higgin.  I just saw the relationship to a previous one, and I just wanted to ascertain whether it was on the record or not, or whether
-- the other element of that, there was going to be some confidentiality issues around that as well --


DR. HIGGIN:  So --


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, the line of questioning that I just heard Dr. Higgin want to pursue, I think it's probably best pursued with Ms. McKellar when she is taking the stand.  To my knowledge -- and he is free to ask the witness, but I am not sure that Mr. Soaré had input into the corporate scorecard, as the evidence is, is that he worked for the board level, not management --


DR. HIGGIN:  No, we agree we are working on the high level, moving from his LTIP recommendation of 281 percent of base salary.  How do you link that to the CEO's performance in a general way?

MR. SOARÉ:  Right.

DR. HIGGIN:  What would be many of the factors that would be in there in making that decision at the board of directors level?  What would be some of the major factors?

MR. SOARÉ:  So, if I may, is there water that can be made available, or can I go get a cup of water somewhere?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, please.  Thank you very much.

MR. SOARÉ:  So just to clarify our firm generally, and this case in particular, the scope of our mandate does include helping the comp committee and we did help the comp committee.

I was merely saying that as an advisor to the board, and to the comp committee in particular, we are asked from time to time -- and we have been asked back in 2015 and to this day in 2016 -- to help the board when it comes to these kinds of matters, which is development of annual scorecards and we are asked to help with all aspects of the LTIP as well, so we have some familiarity with those topics as it relates to the top executives.

To be fair, I am happy to answer whatever question you would like today.  I did not bring notes on all the detail but happy to -- I am completely comfortable asking questions on either the STIP or the LTIP.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, just some very broad questions as to the factors that go into either the scorecard and the decision to compensate under the incentive LTIP.

Would that include, for example, net income to shareholders, stock price, dividends?  For example, would that be one set of factors that would be in there?

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, I think on this page here that's up on the screen, I think this is the scorecard taken -- I guess prepared by Hydro One as of, in calendar '16, if I am not mistaken.  It's prepared by Hydro One, right?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, correct.  So, for example. looking down that if you want to answer in this context, net income would be there with a 40 percent weighting, for example.

MR. SOARÉ:  Right.  So I can't comment on whether this is the one I would have seen in respect of '16.  But the point is you see here the categories of performance metrics that are part of the annual scorecard.  That's it, those are the items for the STIP at the corporate level.  There is also an individual component that is not shown here.  But these are the metrics right here and you can see the weightings.

DR. HIGGIN:  You used the word STIP, not LTIP?

MR. SOARÉ:  Correct.  This is the framework for deciding if there is going to be an STIP awarded based on the corporate performance, and you have to go through the math at the end of the year on how the company scores on these different metrics to determine whether they achieved inside the range.  You would have to score it, and that derives a score for the corporate component of the scorecard.

DR. HIGGIN:  The problem I am having is how do you connect all the LTIP, not the STIP.

MR. SOARÉ:  Okay.  So the LTIP award is comprised of, I want to just distinguish what it is, like what's in it and then in, and then on what basis is it awarded, and separately how does it pay out in the future.  I think it's just important to clarify that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. SOARÉ:  The LTIP is comprised of what are called restricted share units, RSUs, as well as performance share units, PSUs.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. SOARÉ:  And so depending on the level of the organization that you are in, if you qualify for these instruments, you get a different mix of instruments.

So I know for the CEO and the CFO, their mix is 50/50.  So literally for the CEO, if his target award is 280 percent of salary, then in dollar terms he would get a target, and half of that would be in RSUs and half of that would be in PSUs.  Is that part clear?

DR. HIGGIN:  That's very clear.

MR. SOARÉ:  So that's the target. The board, when it comes time to awarding at the beginning of the year -- so this would typically be in February let's say, maybe March of a year -- they will turn their mind and say the target is -- I will stick with the CEO example, 280 percent of salary.

So in dollar terms, I guess that's about 2.385 million.  But the board will then decide whether to award that number, or to award a lower number or a higher number.  And they have discretion built in so they are not locked in to that number.

I cannot explain to you further today how that discretion is used, but there is some discretion on the sizing of the award when it comes time to award it.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. SOARÉ:  Now, once the LTIP is awarded, the RSUs will pay out three years later based on a combination of several things.  A, the person has to be there.  Secondly, it will pay out based on the stock price at the time, and it will also reflect notional dividends as if it had been earned on these instruments.  So essentially, it rewards the executive for how the stock does over those -- it's three-year period.  That's how an RSU works.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that's based on stock and stock price; is that …

MR. SOARÉ:  It's based on -- yes.  So it's denominated -- this RSU instrument is a unit that looks like a share.  It's not a real share, but it looks like a share. And if you are trying to deliver, again to use the mathematical example, it's always easier for the CEO recall we said -- I am going to use rounded numbers, if I may?

DR. HIGGIN:  Sure, of course.

MR. SOARÉ:  2.4 million is the gross LTIP award.  Half of that is 1.2 million in RSUs.  The way the mechanics work is that you divide at the beginning what's the then-current stock price, and a person is awarded a notional number of units.  So if it was 15, 1.2 million divided by 15 is approximately 80 -- am I getting that right?

DR. HIGGIN:  I think the math is pretty close.

MR. SOARÉ:  Divided by 15, so that's 80,000 units.  And three years later approximately, if the person is still employed, those units pay out at whatever the price of the stock is at the time.

If it's gone up, it's worth more; if it's gone down, it's worth less.  And you also factor in notional dividends.  So that's half of the LTIP, RSUs.

The other half is similar in time frame, similar in that you still have to be there.  The construction of it, in terms of the number of units is similar.  However, a very important difference is there are performance features on the PSUs that will govern whether or not these PSUs pay out at the end.  So there is a performance multiplier.

And in this case here for Hydro One, the PSUs awarded at the beginning of 2016 to the executives had an earnings-per-share type metric that covers a three-year period that will govern whether or not it pays out, to what extent it pays out.  And also there's a, I believe, a dividend threshold test that says if the dividend, for whatever reason, were cut then it affects the award.  I think it actually cancels the award.  I am going by memory, but I believe there is that kind of trigger.

So the way this would work is that if you hit the earnings per share numbers that are called for in the plan, then you get your number of units.  If the company misses the earnings per share numbers, then you would get less units.  You might get zero units.

If you exceed the EPS by a certain factor, you might get more units compared to the 80, so there is leverage up and down against the target of 80, but it depends on performance.

And this instrument of -- both instruments, actually, of RSUs and PSUs, if you were to look at all the publicly traded companies that are in your appendix and our appendix, these are very common instruments.  They are not the only instruments, but they are very common instruments on constructing LTIP programs for executives.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  You answered about three pages of my questions all in that description, and therefore I have no more questions, you will be pleased to hear, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.

Just a time check here.  Mr. Ferguson, we have had a fairly lengthy cross from Dr. Higgin.  Do you have still remaining questions, or...

MR. FERGUSON:  Under five minutes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Unless another questioner says something that piques my -- it requires a clarification I don't have any questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And Ms. Lea?

MS. LEA:  Five minutes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Is the court reporter fine to carry on?  We're good for another -- why don't we just do that rather than interrupt us with a break.  At this point the Panel may have some questions but I suspect not many.

Mr. Ferguson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ferguson:

MR. FERGUSON:  Good afternoon.  Sorry, my name is Cary Ferguson.  I am counsel to Anwaatin, and I just have a few follow-up questions to your discussion with Dr. Higgin on the LTIP, the long-term incentive -- is that pay, plan, program?  What's the "P" stand for in LTIP?

MR. SOARÉ:  Oh, performance --


MR. FERGUSON:  Performance.

MR. SOARÉ:  -- share unit.

MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you.  Long-term incentive performance, LTIP?  So the LTIP is based on a number of performance metrics.  Do I have that right?  Am I understanding that correctly?

MR. SOARÉ:  It -- well, it has an earnings per share metric that is the key metric, and it has --


MR. FERGUSON:  And that's what --


MR. SOARÉ:  -- also a -- this dividend test, and my best recollection -- I am 99.9 percent -- there is no other performance metric.

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  So those are the -- that's what triggers earning the LTIP portion.

MR. SOARÉ:  That's what triggers the multiplier at the end of the period on whether -- on the number of units you get.  In my example, if 80,000 was the target number, the scoring against this performance would say whether you got one times that 80 or 1.2 or 1.3, 1-point-whatever, a higher multiplier or a lower multiplier or zero.

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  And you are aware of and have experience on many incentive pay regimes and related metrics; is that fair to say?

MR. SOARÉ:  I do.

MR. FERGUSON:  And including those specific to the energy industry?

MR. SOARÉ:  I am familiar with quite a few.

MR. FERGUSON:  And so going back to Hydro One performance pay, did you provide any advice, recommendations, comments, anything of that nature on the specific performance metrics for any of Hydro One's executive compensation schemes?

MR. SOARÉ:  Our firm and me in particular were at the table both in the committee meetings in the fall of 2015 as well as into early '16 before all of these plans were finalized for calendar '16.  So we were there.  We were also part of discussions and iterations that occurred again all in the normal course as different ideas were being considered by management between meetings, between the committee meetings.  So we had line of sight to that process and to the committee's deliberations along the way.

MR. FERGUSON:  Did you provide any specific advice or recommendations or more just of a general nature then?

MR. SOARÉ:  I am just trying to cast my mind back to, what did we say, how did we say it, when did we say it?  I mean, it was -- you know, there were --


MR. FERGUSON:  If it makes it easier, to focus again on specific performance metrics and with respect to LTIPs, if that would help narrow it down for you.

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, we -- I do recall -- and this is -- you know, I didn't prepare for this part of the questioning, so I just -- my memory is not 100 percent clear, but we -- I know both management and the board were struggling with, in the first year of Hydro One, as a -- in the first full year, which would be calendar '16, and then this vintage -- we call them vintage because once you issue them they last three years -- they were struggling with what would be -- they wanted to have performance conditioning as a principle, and they want it to be significant for the top echelon of management who were going to be eligible.  That was clear.

What performance condition to use was discussed and debated and different types of performance conditions were considered.  I do recall that.  And the challenge was at the time that the new board had not yet embarked on a full strategic planning exercise.  They were going to do that later in '16.

MR. FERGUSON:  Um-hmm.

MR. SOARÉ:  So there were ideas, and we looked at -- I know "we" being the collective "we".  It wasn't just Hugessen --


MR. FERGUSON:  Understood.

MR. SOARÉ:  -- considered other -- whether it be return on capital or relative, you know, shareholder return, these are other metrics that you sometimes see.  Those were -- I know that they were considered, and my recollection is that it was viewed as reasonable that for 2016 having -- where they landed was the right and reasonable landing zone for which metric to use for these PSUs.

MR. FERGUSON:  And just to focus it a little further, I am going to suggest a few other metrics and just ask if they were considered.

Were there any performance metrics related to stakeholder relations?

MR. SOARÉ:  So this is where my role as advisor to the board would not allow me necessarily to comment on the full range of metrics that management team considered, because the way it works, again, it was no different at Hydro One than it is at many other clients.  Management will maybe consider many, many things, and what ends up being put forward as ideas for the board's consideration might be a smaller subset of what the larger range of things they might have considered, so I am afraid I can't answer whether they considered that.

MR. FERGUSON:  Sure.  Let me rephrase.

Did you suggest that they consider any metrics related to stakeholder relations?

MR. SOARÉ:  Such as, you mean, like customer service, or what do you mean by -- what kind of --


MR. FERGUSON:  Yeah, anything under that kind of umbrella.

MR. SOARÉ:  My recollection is we did not consider that, and you would not typically see -- you might in some cases, but you don't typically see those kind of metrics as dominant metrics in a PSU.

MR. FERGUSON:  So those wouldn't be seen in any other industry -- in any energy industry companies as part of an LTIP.

MR. SOARÉ:  I am not saying you would never see it.  I am saying that those would not be the ones you would most commonly see.

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.

MR. SOARÉ:  You would see those, however, in the annual scorecard, which in fact you do see in Hydro One's scorecard.

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay.  And so there was nothing -- no recommendations you made with respect to First Nations relations or consultation or anything of that matter?  Just performance metrics?

MR. SOARÉ:  No, we, Hugessen, did not have those kind of metrics on the list.

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay, thank you, those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Ferguson.

Mr. Rubenstein, did anything come to mind that you would like to pursue?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just one question.  As I understand the LTIP, 50 percent of the LTIP is the PSU; am I correct?  The performance share units?

MR. SOARÉ:  At this level of executive, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the major metric of the PSU is earnings per share?

MR. SOARÉ:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so 50 percent of the PSU -- sorry, 50 percent of the LTIP is earnings per share, and that's over 200 percent of the direct compensation -- sorry, that's 200 percent of the base compensation over that amount?

MR. SOARÉ:  So just the arithmetic is the PSU grant value for the CEO would have been $1.2 million in PSUs.  So that is, I think, 140 percent of his salary.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to know just at a high level how much the PSU will be on an annual basis of the salary. So it is roughly?

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, every year the board will review what should any executive's target pay be.  So they would look at the CEO for '17, and the CEO will have recommendations for his team.

But most, in a normal situation where things are just proceeding without too many peaks and valleys, then the target from last year is a good proxy for what the target might be for the next year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe if we could just turn to page 17, this was the mid-case that you provided, just so I understand.

MR. SOARÉ:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So using the $4 million mid-case, I see that the LTIP is about 2.385 million of that.

MR. SOARÉ:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And about half of that would be earnings per share, essentially.  That would be the major metric that determines that, correct?

MR. SOARÉ:  Right.  So one thing I'm trying to -- and I don't mean to backtrack, but again I don't have anything on me to recall.  I said EPS, and I think it's that.  It could be net income growth, which is a derivative of EPS. But it's either EPS or net income growth is my recollection of the metric that would drive the performance multiplier on that component of pay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's about $1.2 million a year, just using the base case.  Do you accept that, subject to check?

MR. SOARÉ:  Yes, that's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to understand.  For a regulated utility, can you explain to me why as a ratepayer that's an appropriate significant amount of the compensation?

I understand shareholders; that's important for shareholders.  But for ratepayers, can you explain the value proposition for that much to be based on net income, or earnings per share, or any of those financial metrics?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Chairman, this witness is here to speak only to his report.  And it's fair for questions to be asked about the metrics like LTIP that are found in the low, mid, and high case.

But the evidence is clear, Mr. Chairman, that this witness and Hugessen was not retained by management and for that, I don't know how this witness could possibly answer that question about what is fair for ratepayers versus fair for shareholders.

That's not the scope of Mr. Hugessen -- sorry, Mr. Soaré's scope of his testimony.  His testimony is limited to the four corners of this document.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, Mr. Nettleton, your client did put him forward as an expert, and he has testified that he has experience in energy companies.  I would think that in the analysis that they would do, and be giving advice on energy companies, it would be how much is potentially going to be recoverable.  So I think this question is dead on.

MR. SOARÉ:  So can you rephrase -- or not rephrase, just repeat the question, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  Can you help explain to me and the Board what the value proposition is for ratepayers for such a significant part of the CEO and the CFO's salary to be metrics, to me, that are important to shareholders, can you explain how they may or may not also be important to ratepayers?

MR. SOARÉ:  I am going to have a bit of a challenge describing the relevance to the ratepayer.  But from a business point of view, as a regulated enterprise and it's 99 percent regulated, ultimately many, many factors go into how the allowed rate of return will be.

And ultimately, based on the authority that it has in terms of that conclusion, what is the allowed rate of return, et cetera, then the simple arithmetic, the outcome of that is out pops net income.  If you run your business the way you have been authorized to do, if you run it properly, if you run it safely, if you deploy the capital that you said you would on the basis that -- on the timing that you would, then your accounting result will reflect your allowed return on capital.

And that's -- you know, most big companies find that pretty important.  So that's why you find in PSUs metrics that include earnings metrics, for example, in -- I know -- I can't speak to all companies, but I can just give you an example.

In the case of Emera, I think one half of its PSUs are a function of EPS growth over a three-year time frame. And so -- just an example.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In my understanding sort of generally, the purpose of long-term incentive pay for public companies is to align shareholder and management interests, sort of at a high level.  Am I correct about that?

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, I would say the first role of it is to provide a total compensation package, because it's one of the components.  Here and for these levels of executives, it ends up being a large part of the total comp.  That is the arithmetic that is required to attract and retain that person in the role.

And so first and foremost, it's the size of the package that, from a competitive analysis point of view and using your judgment, people decide I am willing to pay this executive or give them an award in this case of 4 million a year.  For Michael Vels, it's 1.5 million, et cetera.

And of that, then you say, okay, what are the best ways to deliver that value and the philosophy becomes one of, well, it's pay-for-performance, is a general tag line.  And to put meat behind that, different companies adopt different drivers, different outcomes that help ensure that the payouts at the end hopefully are in the direction of the performance.

That's the theory of the case.  That's why you see companies putting performance features on bonus programs. They put performance features on a chunk of the LTIP, or all of the LTIP, it depends.

So in this case here, the board thought that in the first year of the company as a publicly traded enterprise, given that they did not want to have too much complexity, given that there was no track record of historic trading analysis, like there was no -- so for example, relative total shareholder return is a very common metric in PSUs, there is no history.

So they deemed that, having considered different possibilities, that earnings per share would be a relevant metric that everybody can understand, and is consistent with the business delivering what it's supposed to do over the next three years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But going back to -- I forget the metric you just said are usually used, but there is no history here -- if you could repeat that metric.

MR. SOARÉ:  Relative total shareholder return.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the purpose of that metric or even earnings per share is to align the interests of management and the shareholder, right?  That's the performance you are talking about?

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, the fact that the award itself is made up of units aligns with the shareholder experience, because it reflects the share price.  But people will choose different -- the performance metric in there to drive a certain behaviour, or to be at least consistent with behaviour.

So I am just drawing a distinction between, yes, ultimately in a publicly traded company, if you use something that has a share-based unit, you hope that the final outcome is consistent or aligned with the shareholder experience.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.  Ms. Lea?

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Mr. Soaré I have one question, I wonder if we could look together at pages 22 and 23 of your slide deck, which was Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 57, page 22 and 23.

And we see here though with have illustrative terms and conditions, and my question is:  Are these terms and conditions typical for the types of executive contracts that you tend to work with, or was there something special about Hydro One that led you to include these illustrative terms and conditions in your proposal for them?

MR. SOARÉ:  So the principle behind these terms and conditions would be, just generally speaking, that they would be from a good governance point of view the types of terms and conditions you would want to have from a board perspective when offering a role to an executive, and the principle was where possible let's modernize the terms and conditions and be, not bleeding (sic) edge, but let's be consistent with good governance practices where possible, where feasible can we be not only -- not necessarily consistent with others have done historically, but more importantly, where's the market right now?  What are the good governance principles behind terms and conditions?

MS. LEA:  Right.  So my question was, did you do something specifically for Hydro One, or would these be the sorts of illustrative terms and conditions you would give in general to that type of executive search?

MR. SOARÉ:  I am sorry, I should have answered that more clearly initially.  There was nothing unique to Hydro One.  This would be the kind of advice we would give generally in similar circumstances.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, thank you, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Thompson?
Questions by the Board:

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, just a couple of questions.

What do these compensation schemes that you have been describing, the LTIP and STIP, presume, in terms of the duties that the executives owe to the corporation?  Do they assume that the duties that the executives owe are to the shareholders?  Or something broader?

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, we -- I am hesitating, because it's a question that -- it's almost -- we don't -- you know, we don't think about that in the sense that it's almost so obvious that you work for the corporation, your interests are for the corporation, you are employed by the corporation, the CEO reports to the board, and I don't -- you know, I think from a -- I am not a lawyer in this capacity, so, you know, the employees don't work for the shareholders, they work for the corporation, they are just -- should be aligned with the corporation's interest.

MR. THOMPSON:  In your many years of experience in setting these incentive schemes, are there any metrics that you are aware of in use for regulated utilities that prompt the executives to achieve higher utilization of the utility system?  And if so, could you list a few?

MR. SOARÉ:  By "higher utilization", I'm not familiar generally, so I am going to ask you a question about, what do you mean by "higher utilization"?  I may be missing something.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, better load factor on the electricity system, more bang for the buck in terms of what the electricity customers -- that kind of thing.  Have you seen any metrics that drive that kind of behaviour?

MR. SOARÉ:  Typically for a publicly traded company that is not the kind of metric that you would see in the corporate scorecard at the very top.  Not to say that that kind of metric wouldn't be a derivative down in the operating roles and could end up being, you know, in scorecards, but I am not familiar with that in the scorecards that I see.

MR. THOMPSON:  You haven't seen that in Emera or TransAlta or anything of that nature, those companies?

MR. SOARÉ:  It's not in Emera's scorecard, correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And a similar question:  Are there any metrics that you're aware of that operate to penalize executives for a deterioration in the utilization of a regulated system?

MR. SOARÉ:  Same answer to the prior question.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Dr. Elsayed.

DR. ELSAYED:  Maybe at the risk of duplicating the questions that Mr. Thompson and Mr. Rubenstein asked, I am still not clear to what extent -- I mean, to put it very simply -- would the compensation of senior executives at Hydro One based on your recommendations depend on delivering results that are consistent with the benefit to the ratepayer?  Like, a company -- a regulated company like Hydro One, their mandate is to maintain a balance between their responsibility to the shareholder and the ratepayer, so in what you recommended and based on your experience with the energy industry, what is it that is in the performance contract of a senior executive at Hydro One that would either reward or penalize that executive based on the results that they produce for the ratepayer?

MR. SOARÉ:  I am not sure I can add more than what I have said before in terms of -- I can't really speak to the ratepayer equation, because that's not something that's inside the box of things that we -- it's not the way we talk about the programs.

I am not saying -- in that language, it's not the language that we use.  My view, which I explained earlier, is net income or earnings per share to me is tied to net income.  Net income is a derivative, the allowed rate of return, and that was part of how Hydro One is allowed to operate if it operates -- if it does everything properly it is allowed to earn that rate of return, but what goes into the ability for it to generate that allowed rate of return are hundreds of factors that of course touch the ratepayer.  They have to have on time, they have to be up a certain fraction of the time, they have to have, you know, improving customer service, they have to do all these things right, and if they don't then they're not -- then they put at risk the ability to earn the rate of return, and so in my opinion many things go into one financial metric, which is net income, and so in that way, I'd say it's the sum of everything they do, but I can't describe -- beyond what the scorecard shows you in the STIP, there are some very specifics.  There is no other lever that is, you know, has a stronger linkage to ratepayer per se that I am aware of.

DR. ELSAYED:  So the underlying assumption then is that achieving that one metric means that pretty much everything below it is being accomplished?

MR. SOARÉ:  I am sorry?

DR. ELSAYED:  That achieving that one metric, the financial metric at the corporate level, if that is being met, then you're implying that that means that all the items that contribute to it, anything from reliability to customer satisfaction, are all -- they have to be met in order to achieve that one single target?

MR. SOARÉ:  I am saying that -- you are asking me a question of how this all links to ratepayer, and I am just --


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MR. SOARÉ:  -- cautioning that, you know, that's not the way that these metrics are tied directly, so I am sharing my opinion that to get net income, to me, in any business, including a regulated business, you have to do many, many things right by way of your customer and your suppliers and your stakeholders, and if you don't get those things right you put at risk at the end of the day the bottom-line performance, and to me that means that it's a simple financial metric, yes, but it reflects many things that have to go right for the business to earn it and for the shareholders to -- all of the shareholders, including the government, to get their dividend, et cetera.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Dr. Elsayed, as I mentioned, Ms. McKellar will be on the finance panel, and I believe those types of questions about ratepayer relations to compensation are probably best -- from a Hydro One perspective are probably best addressed to her.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Soaré, you mentioned that -- or you in your -- providing us with the context in your engagement with Hydro One -- that you were working for the chair, and beginning the talent search and setting up comparators and cohorts as to where you might seek the talent that would be required by the corporation.

Can you describe to me what the attributes, talent attributes that an individual you would be looking for for a -- what's the distinguishes attributes between a Crown Corp., government owned Crown Corp. and a publicly traded corporation?

Why would you look for different talents, and what would the basis of the talent characteristics be different, how would they be separated?

MR. SOARÉ:  So just to clarify, I was not part of the search.  Our firm does not provide services on search, so the criteria that I am aware of that was important to Hydro One was just through discussion.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess my question is tied back to your analysis of where you would look for your comparisons, and you have captured them in the roadmap, as Dr. Higgin described it, from different areas.

And you've mentioned a few times that in a publicly traded company, you would X or Y, and your expectations would be different.  Perhaps you could tell me why would those expectations be different to run and asset based company, irrespective of who the shareholder is.

Is there is a linkage there to the talent that's required?  Why would you look different places.

MR. SOARÉ:  So I would say that the talent should be almost the same, your talent criteria should be almost the same, except if you are running a publicly traded company ideally you would certain roles -- including CEO, CFO a few other roles -- to have a demonstrated comfort and experience dealing with publicly traded environments.  And that's one distinguishes feature between two situations that are identical, but one is publicly traded and one is not.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And that comfort level would lead to what?  What would the outcome be that you are looking for with that company?

MR. SOARÉ:  I am saying the owners -- on the one hand, if it's just the government that owns 100 percent, or widely held on another -- and it's the same business and you want it run wonderfully in each case, I am saying in one set of criteria, in my opinion, you would want to have talent that has publicly traded experience.

So for example, in the pension funds -- which I am very familiar with because we do a lot of the work in the pension fund.  So Canada Pension Plan, the Caisse de dépôt, AIMCo in Alberta, OMERS here in Toronto, these are government related institutions, right?  There are no public shareholders.

But the philosophy of the boards in each of those cases is we need to have the right talent, and they have a philosophy of attracting investment talent and operating talent, et cetera, that, in my opinion, whether they are publicly traded or not wouldn't matter.  Their philosophy is we need people who know how to run investment businesses.

Now, that may not be true necessarily, except for this publicly traded experience piece, but the kind of people we need and what we are going to pay, it doesn't -- it doesn't matter the ownership.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  But the comfort level, why would you search for the comfort level?  I am trying to make the connection as to what's value proposition having someone who has a comfort level or experience operating a publicly traded company.

MR. SOARÉ:  Well, I am just making the point that in our experience, people -- boards of directors who are in charge of especially mid to larger cap companies, ideally if they are looking for a new CEO because they have to -- the old one is gone or whatever, they would want to have the new person with public company experience.

If they have never operated in a public company experience, but they are otherwise solid executives, that's good.  But ideally, you'd want to have that same talent, but hopefully with the knowledge of how to deal with investor relations, how to deal with investment banks, how to deal with whatever.  And that you only get if you have dealt with publicly traded.

I am just merely pointing out that the in my opinion, the capacity should be as high in either case.  But ideally, in a publicly traded, environment you would have somebody at the very top someone understands the publicly traded environment.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Thank you very much. Those are all the questions from the panel.  Any redirect, Mr. Nettleton?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, could I have the break to think about that?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  That will be fine.  Let's return at twenty five after four.
--- Recess taken at 4:05 p.m.
--- On resuming at 4:23 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, please be seated.

Mr. Nettleton.
Re-Examination by Mr. Nettleton:

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Soaré, I have only one area of redirect, and it really follows from the last question that the chair, Mr. Quesnelle, asked you, and it was regarding the publicly traded aspect of your study, of your peer group, if you will, and the aspect that you have captured in your peer group, and I think the question that arises in redirect is this:  Why didn't you include any non-public or Crown corporations in your peer group, such as Hydro Quebec?

MR. SOARÉ:  The pay practices at these other Crowns are interesting, but when you are trying to attract the talent that you need to run, in this case a $25 billion enterprise, the board is going to use the talent market that is better represented by the companies that we put forward.


And the market price for running publicly traded $20 billion companies is as presented in our report, and the problem with other data points like the one you point out is some of those companies are enormous, such as Quebec Hydro, but they don't pay what publicly traded companies pay, and I can't comment on the nature of the person running Quebec Hydro, but if a board -- if a company is offering compensation that is a small fraction of what the market commands, in our experience you are not going to attract the full range of talent that you would when you offer market competitive pay.

So the way I think about it, the company that -- in that case a Crown corp. that offers 10 percent of what the market pay is might get lucky and get a pretty good manager, but they excluded from the possibility of attracting people who have experience running $50 billion companies whether they are public or private.  They don't have -- they never gave themselves a chance, because they didn't have a price point that is reflective of the talent that runs major corporations.

So I think that the talent pool is different and the price point is not relevant for running a 20-plus billion-dollar company.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, that's my only question, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  And thank you very much, Mr. Soaré.

We have a half hour left, Mr. Nettleton.  Given where we are in the schedule we might as well make use of it.

MR. NETTLETON:  Absolutely, sir, if we can just have two minutes, we will get --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.  Thanks again, Mr. Soaré.

MR. SOARÉ:  Yes, thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

[Pause in proceedings.]


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Nettleton.

MR. NETTLETON:  Panel, it is my pleasure to introduce to you the next Hydro One panel.  This is the panel that is responsible for matters concerning execution, operations, and common panel matters.

Now, common panel matters have always been a title that I have never quite understood, because these are quite uncommon people before you.  They are very special people.

Mr. Stenning is the vice-president of stations and operating, and he is seated closest to me.  Mr. Schneider is the vice-president of shared services, and Mr. Schneider is seated closest to you, and in the middle is Mr. Brad Bowness, and he is the vice-president of construction services.

Mr. Thompson, I can give a further introduction of their qualifications if you'd like, or we can have the witnesses -- but I am mindful of the time, and their CVs have been filed in this proceeding, and I'd like to just get right into the oath if we could.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.  Great.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - EXECUTION, OPERATING, COMMON PANEL
Mr. Stenning,
Mr. Schneider,
Mr. Bowness; Affirmed.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Nettleton:

MR. NETTLETON:  Just for the record, the CVs of each of these witnesses is found in Exhibit K1.2.

Gentlemen, in this proceeding Exhibit K1.1 is a letter and a chart outlining witness responsibilities, and at page 10 of that chart there is the responsibilities, the evidentiary responsibilities, of the execution, operating, and common panel, again found at page 10.

Do you have that chart in front of you?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

And gentlemen, starting with you, Mr. Schneider, can each of you please confirm that the evidence that is listed on that chart on page 10 with respect to your panel was prepared by you or under your direction and control?  Mr. Schneider?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes, it was.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Bowness?

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes, it was.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Stenning?

MR. STENNING:  Yes, it was.

MR. NETTLETON:  And do any of you have changes or corrections to make to any of that evidence?  Mr. Schneider?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  No, I do not.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Bowness?

MR. BOWNESS:  I do.

MR. NETTLETON:  Could you please state what those changes are?

MR. BOWNESS:  A couple of minor updates to Exhibit D1, tab 1, Schedule 2.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  Please proceed.

MR. BOWNESS:  The first update is with respect to the last item within table 2, referring to the OGCC integrated voice communications and telephony project.  This project was flagged within the evidence as being an emergent need.  This was miscategorized as a part of our evidence, and it should have been flagged as an increase in complexity and cost associated with that investment.

The second update I would like to provide is with respect to table 3, and this is with respect to the second line item, the Bruce special protection scheme.  The time of this evidence submission we were targeting a 2016 in-servicing of that project.

Due to some delays around outage -- final outage planning and connections into the Bruce nuclear end of the Bruce special protection scheme, we have had to defer that investment into 2017.

This deferral hasn't had any impact on the overall in-service addition forecast for 2016...

[Reporter appeals.]


MR. QUESNELLE:  Your microphones are linked in --


MR. BOWNESS:  Sorry.  So the deferral into 2017 has not had an impact on the overall forecast for 2016 in-service additions.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Stenning, do you have any changes or corrections to make?

MR. STENNING:  Yes, I have one correction to make. From B1, tab 3, schedule 4, page 10, line 20, and there is a reference to a time limit that is a NERC time limit, and the reference there said is a one-hour time limit.  Actually, the NERC time limit is two-hour time limit.

Hydro One has always tried to perform to a one-hour time limit; that's our own internal rule.  But the two-hour time limit is what the NERC rule is.

It does not change the argument; it is just one versus two.

MR. NETTLETON:  When you say argument, do you mean application evidence?

MR. STENNING:  Yes, I mean that the description in terms of not being able to meet the one-our hour or two-hour time limit, it's basically the same description.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Thompson, I think got that joke.  Gentlemen, can you, with those changes, confirm the evidence is accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes, it is.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Bowness?

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes, it is.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Stenning?

MR. STENNING:  Yes, it is.

MR. NETTLETON:  Can therefore each of you adopt this evidence as your evidence in this proceeding?  Mr. Schneider?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Bowness?

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And Mr. Stenning?

MR. STENNING:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, panel.  Mr. Chair, the panel is available for cross-examination.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Ms. Lea is leading the way.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:


MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.  Gentlemen, in the first part of this examination, there are two exhibits that you might want to have handy to look at.  The first is Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 3; I am going to be look at pages 1, 2 and 3 of that exhibit.  The second is Board Staff interrogatory 121.

I wonder if we could begin by looking on the screen at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 2.  In this chart, we can see that at the bottom, that the company-wide costs grow by about $23.3 million over the 2015 to 2018 period.  Is that approximately correct?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  And if we look, however, at the portion of these costs allocated to transmission -- and for that, you have to look back at the allocation in 2015 in Staff IR 121 as well as to this table -- what my point is is that there appears to be an amount of 97.6 million in 2018 and in 2015, it's 95.7 million.  That's from the interrogatory, and that appears to be an increase of only about 2 percent over that same three-year period.

So my question is there seems to be a bit of a divergence between a 13 percent increase at the overall corporate level, but only a 2 percent increase in that allocated to transmission.

Are you able to explain that?  Where are these costs going?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I am just going to look up the interrogatory.

MS. LEA:  Please.  You will see on the screen before us now the amount allocated to transmission in 2015 was 95.7 million, and that rises by only a small amount to 97.6 million in 2018.

So it's the difference between the apparently significantly greater increase at the corporate level compared to the allocation to transmission.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  So the allocation does change across functions.  When I look at the total, I don't see -- nothing jumps out at me, frankly, to explain that.

MS. LEA:  So there would be a greater allocation then to distribution proportionately, because so little is going to transmission -- so little change is happening to transmission over that period?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  That's correct, and it could change across the elements as well.

MS. LEA:  And so you're not aware of the reason for this.  Could it be just due to the updated cost allocation report that you have filed?

If you wish to think about this and provide away of explanation by undertaking that's also acceptable if that's helpful.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, I think, Ms. Lea, these questions actually may be best for the finance panel.  They may be able to address these more specifically.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  I saw Mr. Schneider's name at the bottom of interrogatory 121, and thought he might be able to hem us.  But if not, I can move on.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think the lead witness is the individual named Glenn Scott, and that's representative of the finance panel.  Mr. Scott isn't appearing, but his area of expertise is the finance panel.

MS. LEA:  Sorry, Mr. Scott is appearing on the finance panel?

MR. NETTLETON:  No, Mr. Scott is not appearing.  Mr. Scott is not part of the finance panel, but that's his area of expertise or responsibility is the finance area, and one of his individuals is going to be appearing.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So I won't be told -- rather my colleague, Michael Millar, will not be told on Thursday that we are asking the wrong witness?

MR. NETTLETON:  We wouldn't play that game.

MS. LEA:  No.  I know you wouldn't do it deliberately, sir, just trying to make sure.

Well, I will move to few other others I have that are similar, but if these have to be moved to the only panel, please let me know.

So now I wanted to look at some of the costs or the allocations that do increase significantly for transmission.  So we are looking at interrogatory 121 here.  We have an allocation figure for corporate management, that's the top line, and in 2015, it's 2.8 million.  And if we go back to the C exhibit, C1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 2, we see an increase of 7.1 million by 2018 and that seems like a very large increase to us.  Have you an explanation for that, or is that also the finance panel?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  So you see in Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 3, all of the allocations in that exhibit and on that table on page 2 are done through a cost allocation methodology --


MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  -- at the corporate level, and that type of a question would be best served to the finance panel.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  We did get a bit confused because when we looked at the witness responsibility chart, this evidence, C1, tab 3, schedule 3, is listed under Mr. Schneider's responsibility.

Okay.  Now, at page 2 -- this is a slightly different question.  At page 2 of this exhibit, we see that the increase is partly due to higher compensation from management.  I think if you scroll down, you will see that quote.

And we already know that some costs, I think it's about $6.3 million according to another interrogatory which I will cite in a moment, that is for acquisitions, investor relations and donations, they are not allocated to be recovered from ratepayers.

So as we understand the answer to LPMA's Interrogatory No.12, there is an amount that is not being allocated to ratepayers of that amount.

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Lea, this is the finance panel; this is dealing with cost allocations.

If it would help the Board and the panel, this panel is really here to speak to work execution matters and the finance, the cost side of things and the allocation of those costs on the OM&A front particularly are all really related to the finance panel.

MS. LEA:  So questions about why you need additional salaries and the benefit to ratepayers and so, on all finance panel?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Well, my cross-examination is getting a good deal shorter then, in that case.  One moment, please.

MR. QUESNELLE:  There you go.  We get bonus points for megawatts.

MS. LEA:  It is a bit confusing, though, given the witness allocation.  So one moment, please.  If I could just have a moment, sir?

Okay.  Just to be very clear then, I have similar questions about the corporate relations cost, the general counsel costs, and the internal audit costs, what are the drivers behind those increases, what is the benefit to ratepayers, all to the finance panel?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  I wonder then if we could go to a more general question at Exhibit C1, tab 2, Schedule 6.  Now, this is under O&M, again, but it's work execution strategy, and in this exhibit in general you indicate that you are looking for innovative and productive ways to complete your operations and maintenance work program, and you list several initiatives that are helping you to do this, but none of the initiatives appears to include an estimate or a forecast of cost savings to be derived from these initiatives.

Can you tell me why that is?

MR. STENNING:  I believe we answered the estimate for the initiatives in the OEB Staff Interrogatory 116.

MS. LEA:  Could you call that up, please.

And are these savings embedded in the cost projections for these programs in the test years?

MR. STENNING:  Yes, they are.

MS. LEA:  One moment, please.

Apologies if my cross-examination seems a bit discombobulated, because I am trying to figure out this panel, the next panel.

Another aspect of things I wanted to look at was Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 7, which deals with taxes other than income taxes, so that's C1, tab 3, schedule 7.  And at page 1 there is a chart here.  The first category there is property taxes.  And on page 2 of this exhibit this amount is broken down.

I have some questions about the stations and buildings amounts.  Would that be this panel or the finance panel?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  That's this panel.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, you indicated that a province-wide reassessment was due to take place in 2016 to refresh property values for property-tax calculation purposes, and we asked you in an interrogatory whether this reassessment had been received and how it would affect the values shown on this table.

And at the time of answering the interrogatory, which I believe was Staff 140, you indicated that you had not yet received any notices of the province-wide reassessment.  So since you provided that answer, have you received the reassessment?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes, as of this time we have received virtually all of the reassessments for the properties we own.

MS. LEA:  So how has this number changed, or has it changed, that we see in Table 2?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  So we received the bulk of them in November, and based on our preliminary review it looks like the property values on average are rising, but the tax rates are generally static.  The effect of that reassessment is being conducted right now, but I don't anticipate significant changes in what we have forecast.

MS. LEA:  So you would say that it was a -- not a material change in what we see in that table?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Turning to the second category then in table 2, which is transmission line taxes, now, do I understand correctly that you pay an amount to municipalities, and also an amount to First Nations under this category?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. LEA:  And for the total amount of the payments for the test years, how is the 38.4 million broken down between the amount to municipalities and the amount to First Nations?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I don't have that breakdown handy.

MS. LEA:  Would you be willing to provide it by way of undertaking?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  For each of the test years then, how does the 38.4 million break down between municipality payments and First Nations payments, J8.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.3:  TO ADVISE FOR EACH OF THE TEST YEARS HOW THE 38.4 MILLION BREAKS DOWN BETWEEN MUNICIPALITY PAYMENTS AND FIRST NATIONS PAYMENTS.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So is there a likelihood or some prospect that these taxes will be changing as we go forward, or do you consider that these are pretty good estimates for the test years?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I believe these are good estimates for the test years.

MS. LEA:  And with respect to the payments to First Nations, these are in addition to the rights payments that we see listed in Table 1 of this exhibit?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  The payments under transmission lines are payments in lieu of property taxes.  It's an approach Hydro One takes to compensate First Nations for our transmission lines on their reserve lands.  Associated with that payment is a land rental payment for the same transmission line occupation on the reserve lands, and the land rental payment would be part of the rights payment line item on page 1, Table 1.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  And I think that those payments, the rights payments, are described in more detail at page 4 of the exhibit.  I don't think we need to go there.

Now, you have estimated $3 million for crossings and land -- I guess that is at page 4 -- for crossings and land occupation to railway crossings and government entities and about one-and-a-half million for obtaining consents from certain First Nations to transfer assets to Hydro One.

So I wasn't sure about your last answer about rental payments and the payments for obtaining consents to transfer assets.  Can you clarify?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes, they are really one and the same, in that we are paying a land rental fee for our transmission assets to be on the reserve lands.  As part of that agreement, as it explains on page 5 of Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 7, the agreement also renews or transfers a permit that's currently with Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation to Hydro One.  The permits as they stand today with OEFC are there based on the merger of Ontario Hydro back in 1999.  Those permits were not transferred to Hydro One at that time, and so the process now is negotiating new agreements with those First Nations to have the rights transferred to Hydro One.

MS. LEA:  And are those negotiations still ongoing at this time?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes, there are approximately 21 reserves where we have assets on reserve, and we have got about eight situations where we are continuing to negotiate with the First Nations for those transfers.

MS. LEA:  So is there any update to this amount that you have put in the evidence at this time?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  No, I think the estimate in the application is our best estimate at this time based on the various negotiations ongoing.

I might add that we continue to pay First Nations for our assets on their reserves based on previous agreements that have expired until we renegotiate a new agreement.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So the amounts that we see in the application then are very similar to the current payments to First Nations.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  That's correct, with some consideration to some that are getting close to conclusion in terms of what the forecast might be.

MS. LEA:  And in your business plan, which was Exhibit K8.1 today, at page 4, you talk about, I think, new initiatives in this area.  I wonder if we call up that exhibit momentarily.  So that's K8.1.  It's the business plan, page 4.  It's in the first paragraph.  Perhaps if -- perhaps we don't need to look at it on the screen.

You have indicated that you -- at page 4 of your business plan -- that you:

"...remain committed to developing and maintaining relationships with First Nations and Metis communities that demonstrate mutual respect for one another."

You go on to say:

"For example, Hydro One's ongoing engagement with First Nations and Metis communities recognizes that the company's transmission assets in many instances reside on reserve land and in traditional territories and therefore extends to the execution of specific transmission system projects."

Are the negotiations related to these rights payments part of the initiative that is described in that business plan?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  The negotiations have to do with the existing transmission lines on the reserve lands, not to the development of new projects that may go through the traditional or reserve lands, no.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you, one moment, please.

Thank you.  Given that many of my questions are for finance, those are my questions for this panel.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Stephenson, do you have very much for this panel?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I don't, Mr. Chair.  I really have only one area, and I am hoping that it will be ten minutes, no more.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we finish up today, then, with you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Great, thank you, Mr. Chair.  Thank you, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson, and I am counsel for the Power Workers Union.

There is really only one area I wanted to explore with you, and that is the extent to which compensation, labour costs payable to people representing -- Hydro One employees represented by my client are a driver of the cost of your capital plan.

And I am not -- I don't want to get into the numbers unnecessarily, and you will let me know what you can assist with me.  But I just want to get a sense of where the cost drivers are.

And I think, if I could take you to AMPCO interrogatory 49, Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 49, page 2 of 2.  I think this -- I believe this is a response that deals with the cost drivers of your capital program in the indicated years.  Is that correct?

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And if we just go through this chart, I am assuming if add up each column, I should get to 100 or close to it, correct?

MR. BOWNESS:  That would be correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So if I can just go through -- maybe actually start from the bottom of each column and then go up.

So overheads, those are -- I take it that's a general corporate overheads, is that right?

MR. BOWNESS:  What I might suggest is from a description perspective, if we look at Exhibit B1, tab 4, schedule 1, this is where we have that same breakdown of costs with the explanations of what are the underlying contributors to that.

So the AMPCO exhibit speaks to the ratio of costs within each one of those buckets.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.

MR. BOWNESS:  But the capital work execution strategy speaks to the underlying nature of the work.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.

MR. BOWNESS:  So if we go to page 2 of 23, section 3, it should cost drivers of the capital work program.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.

MR. BOWNESS:  So 3.1 describes the materials.  This would be the physical -- this would be the equipment.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So needless to say, there is no PWU labour costs in that category at all?

MR. BOWNESS:  No, no PWU within that category.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, and within the next one?

MR. BOWNESS:  Within the next one, this is construction labour fleet and equipment.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, and PWU labour does appear in this category to some extent, correct?

MR. BOWNESS:  At some times, yes.  So we go through a process as a part of each of our projects from a work jurisdiction perspective.  We have a negotiated agreement with the trades unions called the Inn on the Park accord, which determines what type of work goes to which labour group.

There is certain work that is directed work that is defined, and there is certain work that's undetermined.  So within this work, there is an opportunity for PWU to be executing some of the work within that bucket.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And broadly defined, if the work is considered to be construction work, then it's done by unions other than the PWU, correct?  That is transmission construction work, broadly defined.

MR. BOWNESS:  There is complexity to the work assignment.  So when it is new build, it is building trades.  When it is maintenance work, it is PWU.

Now, there are a number of buckets that fall in between those that would go into the category of undetermined, and that's where we rely on our unions for assignment.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And as I understand it, in terms of the category of work from another interrogatory response, 57 percent of this cost, in terms of the labour component of what we are looking at here, is the building trades, correct?  That's from Board Staff IR 127.  It also is --


MR. BOWNESS:  If I can just pull up that reference to the IR, please?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, all right.  It actually references back to your pre-filed evidence, but it --


MR. BOWNESS:  Could you just refer to where Hydro One indicates...

MR. STEPHENSON:  It's actually embedded in the question.

MR. BOWNESS:  Right, sure.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So in that category, if we go back to where we were, there are a number of components in this group, only one of which is labour, correct?

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And only part of that is PWU.

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes.  So if I can just take you through the other cost categories, and then maybe we can come back to the 57 percent, if that could be okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sure, right.  Contracts, by definition, this is not PWU because these are third contractors, correct?

MR. BOWNESS:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And some of that may be labour, I take, it embedded in those contracts.

MR. BOWNESS:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The next item is engineering and project management.

MR. BOWNESS:  So this again is labour.  So this is labour that would span -- within the engineering department, we would have management staff, we would have Society represented staff and PWU represented staff.

And within the project management group, you would have management, Society, and a few PWU represented staff.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Broadly speaking, PWU represented are going to be a minority of these costs viewed globally, correct, in this category?

MR. BOWNESS:  I would say within the engineering area when you get into the drafting discipline, that's PWU represented work.  But the overall engineering would be Society represented work.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, okay.  And then the next category, if we just go up, commissioning; there is labour embedded in that.

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes, and this work is actually performed by Mr. Stenning's stations group, which is PWU represented work.

MR. STENNING:  Both PWU and Society.

MR. BOWNESS:  And Society, yes, sorry.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Interest is obviously a financial item, so there is nothing there.  And then overhead; is there any labour in the overhead item?  I guess that's general corporate overhead, is it?

MR. BOWNESS:  Indirectly, yes, as you have the corporate overheads that are charged out to the work program, that is to support the staff that are in the corporate functions that is charged to the capital work program that is labour.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And some percentage of that is going the be PWU.

MR. BOWNESS:  Is going to be PWU, correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  If we can go back to construction, you wanted to go back to that.

MR. BOWNESS:  So to the 57 percent when we are talking about labour hours, right, construction makes up a much more substantial number of hours because of the -- well, it's the largest labour contributor to the capital work program.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.

MR. BOWNESS:  However, your construction labour rates are significantly lower than your management, Society, and PWU represented.  So from a cost perspective, it doesn't represent as high a cost element.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But just getting back to here so I get that, the 57 percent is based on hours, not dollars.

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes, correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Got it.  But this item, which is approximately 20 percent of the total, by definition includes more than just labour.  You've got fleet and equipment costs embedded in there as well.  I take it labour is the largest component of this item?

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes, I would estimate that approximately 5 percent of that 20 percent is with respect to fleet and Equipment; 15 percent would be labour.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then just going back to where we started, which was the AMPCO 49, the numbers -- now I am going across the years, I mean obviously they bounce and a little, but they are relatively constant, fair?

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so forecasting out to '17, '18, you are not forecasting that these numbers -- that is the splits are going to be materially different; is that fair?

MR. BOWNESS:  We would anticipate that the contracts line item will be slightly higher moving forward.  Our strategy with respect to delivering our capital work program is to leverage some additional engineering procuring and constructing contracts to deliver the work.  So the ratios will change slightly, but not substantially.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I am going to deal with this with another panel later.  But we have seen elsewhere in the evidence that your casual labour cost is substantially higher in the test years than it -- it's been ramping up, but it continues to ramp up, but I take it that is a function of simply the increase in the magnitude of the capital work rather than a split -- a change in the split in terms of who is doing the work.

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes, that would be correct.  If you look over the last few years, we have ramped up the capital work program within the engineering and construction discipline by a couple of hundred million, which directly relates to the increase in construction labour.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And I don't think I am going to ask you to do this, but let me just approach it this way.  We have just had a discussion about how PWU-represented labour pop up in a variety of -- some of these categories to some degree.

I take it that attempting to extract a number or a percentage out of your global budget that's attributable to PWU-represented labour, that is not an easy task, I take it, and it's not going to give us a -- it's not likely to produce a number which is very accurate.

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes, we would agree with that.  The other nuance of this is that the lion's share of the PWU staff is supporting the maintenance side of the operation, so to see the numbers in an order of magnitude, I think Mr. Stenning would be able to speak to that more specifically.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  I mean -- and just to close this loop, I mean, when you see the OM&A budgets, those -- there is substantial PWU labour embedded in those numbers, right, much more so than in these numbers; correct?

MR. BOWNESS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

Let's call it a day, and we will have this panel back on Thursday morning at nine o'clock, and I am not sure -- I know Mr. Higgins was hoping to go on Thursday, and he was in the order ahead of you, Mr. Brett.  I am not sure who will be starting on Thursday morning, but if the two of you have that conversation, and either Mr. Higgins or yourself will be leading on Thursday morning, okay?  Thank you.

Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Everyone have a good evening.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:05 p.m.
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